University of South Carolina

Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2014

High School Core-Subject Instructors' Perceptions of General **Education Track Courses and the Associated Achievement Gap**

Hope Reed University of South Carolina - Columbia

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Reed, H.(2014). High School Core-Subject Instructors' Perceptions of General Education Track Courses and the Associated Achievement Gap. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/2717

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

High School Core-Subject Instructors' Perceptions of General Education Track Courses and the Associated Achievement Gap

by

Hope W. Reed

Bachelor of Arts Oakwood University, 1989

Master of Arts University of South Carolina, 1993

Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Education in

Curriculum and Instruction

College of Education

University of South Carolina

2014

Accepted by:

Rhonda Jeffries, Major Professor

Joshua Gold, Committee Member

Lynn Harrill, Committee Member

Jan Yow, Committee Member

Lacy Ford, Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies

Abstract

The purpose of the study is to investigate teacher perceptions of students enrolled in low-level classes. The study will investigate how high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap; the expectations of high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses regarding general education students; and how high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students. Interview questions and classroom observations will be utilized to gather qualitative data in this single method case study. In addition, teacher lessons will be used to triangulate the interview and observation data.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background of the Problem	2
Statement of the Problem	5
Research Questions	7
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Paradigm	9
Definitions of Key Terms	9
Assumptions and Limitations	12
Significance of the Study	12
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	14
Philosophy of Tracking	15
Implementation of Tracking in Schools	15
Reported Benefits of Tracking	17
Adverse Influences and Social Justice of Implementing Tracking	17
The Influences of Tracking and Teacher Attitudes and Perceptions	20
Self -Efficacy	23
Teacher Efficacy and Student Performance	25

Closing the Achievement Gap and Tracking	28
Summary	31
Chapter 3: Methodology	34
Introduction	34
Research Design and Approach	35
Setting and Sample	36
Instrumentation and Materials	38
Validity and Reliability	40
Data Collection	41
Data Analysis	42
Protective Measures	42
Summary	43
Chapter 4: Results and Findings	44
Observations	56
Lesson Plans	65
Results of Study	67
Trustworthy and Credibility	72
Chapter 5: Results, Conclusion, Implications, Recommendations	76
Introduction	76
Summary of the Study	77
Summary of Findings	78
Pacommondations	80

Appendix A: Letter to Participants	91
References	86
Conclusion	84
Implications	82

Chapter 1: Introduction

America's public schools are under increasing pressure to educate students to enter a changing world. In the year 2003, 16 billion dollars were appropriated by the Department of Education to assure that no child is left behind (No Child Left Behind Act, 2001). The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) was designed to reauthorize the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) (Ed.gov 2012). The federal government decided that public education is on a downward spiral, and therefore NCLB mandates that every student in every classroom in every state will have a highly qualified teacher. NCLB supports standard-based education reform based on the concept that educators should set high standards and establish measureable goals to improve student outcomes in education. One of the major reasons for implementing NCLB sprung from the need to strengthen the accountability of public schools regarding achievement for all students. The act sets out criteria and guidelines educators must follow to avoid a state or federal takeover. NCLB put benchmarks, known as adequately yearly progress (AYP), in place to determine success or failure with respect to the mandate and to articulate potential consequences for public schools that fail to meet these benchmarks. However, NCLB supplied educators with few strategies and guidelines to reach the established criteria and the achievement gap continues to grow.

When the need arose for revamping NCLB, Common Core State Standards (CCSS) were implemented to bring about even more accountability for states and to

ensure that states uniformly identify and create common curriculum guides and assessments. The CCSS Initiative is a U.S. education initiative that seeks to bring diverse state curricula into alignment by following the principles of standards-based education reform (CoreStandards, 2010). The standards clearly communicate what is expected of students at each grade level. This is intended to assist teachers to more accurately determine what is needed to help students learn and to establish individualized benchmarks for them. The CCSS focus on core conceptual understandings and procedures starting in the early grades, enabling teachers to take the time needed to teach core concepts and procedures well and to give students the opportunity to master them (CoreStandards, 2010).

Background of the Problem

Many of the mandates set in place by NCLB were attempts to eliminate the achievement gap. The achievement gap in education refers to the disparity in academic performance between groups of students (Davenport & Anderson, 2002). This gap typically appears in student grades, course selections, standardized test scores, dropout rates in schools, and college-completion rates. The achievement gap is often used to describe the distributing performance gaps between Black and Hispanic students, who tend to group together at the lower end of the performance scale, and their non-Hispanic White peers, who tend to group together at the higher end of the scale, as well as the similar academic disparity between students from low-income families and those with more economic resources (*Education Week*). However, true measurement of the gap has not been achieved and the expectation is that CCSS will more effectively establish norms

and criteria for mastery of material and help diminish the racial and economic achievement gap among student demographic groups. A major issue facing America's schools is how to raise test scores and eliminate the academic achievement gap between Black and Hispanic students compared to White students. According to the National Assessment for Education Progress (NAEP), White students outperform Black students in English and mathematics by 13% and 18% respectively (2011).

In an attempt to respond to the mandate of NCLB, public education has explored possibilities to address this problem. As educational leaders began disaggregating student achievement data, the subpar scores of the student subgroup populations were no longer hidden in the larger set of data. These subgroup populations included special education students with Individual Education Plans (IEPs), racial and ethnic minority groups such as Black and Latino, students from lower socioeconomic levels, and English as a Second Language (ESL) students (Overview, 2004). The law's careful scrutiny of subgroup population was a result of growing concern and frustration over failed attempts to close the achievement gap (Overview, 2004; Williams, 2004).

Schools have used various strategies to close the academic achievement gap among students. They have utilized a variety of academic structures including homogeneous grouping, ability grouping, and heterogeneous grouping. Ability grouping is the practice of dividing students for instruction on the basis of their perceived capacities for learning (Oakes, 2005). According to the Balanced View:

Ability grouping can be separated into two distinct groups, and these groups are the most common ones used in schools. Students can be grouped within class which means teachers can place students in small groups according to the academic ability. Students can also be grouped throughout classes in which

students are separated into different classes, courses, or course sequence, known as curricular tracks, based on their achievement. The term tracking historically referred to the practice of grouping students on the high school level by their ability into different courses with differentiated curriculum and instruction. Tracking differs from ability grouping in that ability groups are informal, short-term and associated with a flexible grouping instructional practice as opposed to something that is long-term and institutionalized. (2002)

An ongoing debate exists about the impact various grouping strategies have on student achievement. Many schools have shifted to ability grouping, despite several critical research findings (Balanced View, 2002). In ability grouping, students are able to enroll in a range of courses from high-, middle-, or low-level classes. These classes are labeled as honors, college-preparatory, general, or vocational. The students who are grouped in these classes rarely move from one level to another.

Proponents of ability grouping suggest that the practice increases student achievement by allowing teachers to tailor the curriculum to match student needs.

Teachers often have the opportunity to provide more reinforcement and repetition to low-achieving students. Opponents of ability grouping suggest the practice not only fails to benefit students at any level, but in fact channels poor and racial minority students to low tracks where they receive a lower quality of instruction than other groups. They postulate that this is a contributing factor to a widening of the achievement gap. While some would argue that ability grouping differs from tracking in that it allows for free movement across tracks, current research suggests otherwise. Although students are not as limited in movement, research shows that today's course structures are often stratified in ways that mask the continued existence of high-level and low-level courses.

Statement of the Problem

With the growing need for subgroups in school populations to improve academic achievement as measured by standardized state assessments, schools need to question current practices. Study results examining the quality of instruction in ability groups confirm what critics of ability grouping argue. The instruction presented in high-level classes differs greatly compared to the instruction presented in low-level classes. The federal NCLB mandate demanded that states create "world-class" standards, test student mastery, and hold educators accountable in an attempt to pressure educators to better prepare underserved groups of students. Unfortunately, the seemingly benevolent law with its many penalties prompted states to lower their expectations of students rather than have large groups of their schools branded as failures (*Education Week*, 2013).

Opponents of ability grouping contend that the quality of instruction offered to high-level classes is better than that offered to low-level classes. Kathleen Cotton (1989) inferred students perceived as low in ability are treated differently. Students with low achievement levels have fewer learning opportunities. They experience a lag in learning new material, experience lower level questioning techniques, and are often passed over during questioning periods. Conferencing time or informative feedback is generally brief. There is a lack of praise for success, and students experience a shorter response time compared to those students considered high in ability (1989). Upon the implementation of NCLB, public schools had to reevaluate the necessary steps to ensure every student's success in school. As a result, public schools had to implement strategies they deemed necessary to achieve AYP in order to avoid government intervention. Public schools

inherited the burden and responsibility to improve student achievement and reduce the discrepancy between high- and low-achieving students.

The same pressure is mounting against the CCSS in the wake of discouraging results on new tests based on the standards. With the implementation and rigor that came with the new CCSS, educators are concerned about the students who were tracked in lower level classes. According to Ravitch (2013), the common core expectations are "way too high". This was stated after New York education officials announced that more than two-thirds of the state's students had failed common-core linked tests. Educators are concerned that the new CCSS will cause all students to fall behind and will widen the achievement gap of those students who are tracked in low-level classes even more.

Standards-driven goals have discouraged the use of heterogeneous instructional patterns in favor of ability grouping, which is thought to simplify teaching for standardized test success. The practice of tracking is still present in most secondary schools, even though research has shown that homogeneous groups do not provide students with the highest quality of education. Approximately 80% to 85% of public schools use tracking in some form (Hallinan, 1994) and are ignoring contraindicative research as they continue to employ this practice based on an attempt to increase test scores. One strategy for bringing about change is to provide all students with a quality education stemming from high expectations. Wheelock (1994) recommended pulling away from homogeneous grouping, or the process of organizing students according to their academic ability level, as a strategy to improve student achievement.

A student's ability level is usually based on teacher recommendations and standardized test scores. Teacher perception of students is a critical point where major determinations are made about a student's academic experience in schools.

Research Questions

This study will focus on the following research questions:

- 1. How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?
- 2. What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?
- 3. How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

 Data collected from this study will improve teacher professional development in the area of student motivation, ultimately improving student academic motivation. Results of this study may help administrators, teachers, and those involved in education to understand the extent to which independent variables influence teacher perceptions of tracking and their effect on the existing achievement gap. It will also serve to illustrate the outcomes of teacher expectations on students who are generally tracked in lower level classes and their perceived abilities to teach them.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to examine teacher perceptions of students enrolled in low-level classes and the academic achievement gap, as well as their expectations of these students. Additionally the study examines teacher ability to instruct students in low-

level classes. The study investigate the influence school tracking has on teacher perception of students who are tracked in lower level classes, teacher perception of student ability, and instructional practices. Investigating the impact of grouping practices on perceptions of effectiveness will allow schools to maximize the potential for student achievement.

By studying the impact of classroom environment and teacher perceptions of student self-efficacy, a greater understanding of the impact of tracking on student academic achievement may develop. In addition, investigating concepts such as self-ability and engagement through specific classroom instructional or curriculum practices may allow teachers to better create and shape student outcomes. This, in turn, may create better opportunities for student achievement.

As educators began to separate students into classes based on perceived ability, they started distancing themselves from teaching for those students in lower level classes. Generally teachers do not volunteer to teach lower level classes, so administrative staff must assign these classes to teachers. Because teachers were assigned to teach these classes rather than electing to do so, they began to resent other teachers who teach upper level classes while also resenting the students placed in low-level classes. This resentment leads to further disparity between high- and low-achieving classes in instructional goals and expectations of students in these classes. These feelings began to trickle down to teacher instructional performances. Their uninspired instructional engagement and design, along with an obvious lack of expectations, becomes evident via the examination of the subpar performances of their students.

Research Paradigm

This study utilizes a qualitative approach to explore and guide the development of teacher perceptions of students who are underperforming in the classroom and on standardized tests. The use of qualitative methodology is necessary to compare and contrast teacher views of students. The study identifies teacher perceptions of learners and their expectations of learners, coupled with how and at what level teachers deliver the lesson. The study assesses whether the teachers feel a desire or need for professional development to assist them in reflecting on and changing their attitude toward low-level achievers. The study data are comprised of interviews, observations, and lesson planning, eliciting teachers' ideas about how to improve motivation and raise expectations in the classroom.

Definitions of Key Terms

For the purposes of this study, the following terms are defined in an attempt to assist the reader in understanding key concepts:

Ability grouping: The practice of grouping students with similar abilities into separate classes for the purpose of providing them with instruction targeted to their perceived abilities within a grade level.

Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP): An annual measure of student progress utilizing data obtained from state-constructed and mandated testing instruments.

Common Core State Standards (CCSS): Educational standards that help teachers ensure their students have the skills and knowledge they need to be successful by providing clear goals for student learning.

De-tracking: The process of eliminating rigid student grouping based on perceived academic abilities and predicted future accomplishments. De-tracking schools group students with different abilities, learning styles, and backgrounds in the same classes—with appropriate support—guarantees all students access to the same knowledge and opportunities.

Differentiated instruction: An instructional design model that emphasizes the importance of simultaneously recognizing and addressing the diverse learning needs and abilities of all learners in a single classroom setting.

End of Course Examination: A standardized state test that is given to all South Carolina high school students enrolled in English 1 and Algebra 1.

Heterogeneous grouping: A method of grouping students with varying abilities, learning styles, backgrounds, and racial and ethnic origins together with an emphasis on challenging curriculum and instruction for all students.

High-achieving students: Students placed in the highest academic track or strand available based on perceived or tested ability levels.

Homogeneous grouping: The practice of grouping of students in the same classes and work groups according to perceived abilities or performance levels.

HSAP: High School Assessment Program. A test administered to all second-year students in high school in South Carolina.

Low-achieving students: Students traditionally placed in the lowest academic track or strand based on perceived ability levels.

Measures of Academic Progress (MAP): A computer adaptive test used to measure students' progress.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB): "While NCLB has certain provisions that apply only to Title I schools, the law clearly requires all states to develop a single system of accountability so there will be uniform standards for all children. Each state is required to develop student-testing programs and demonstrate satisfactory student improvement each year. States are also required to pay particular attention to the progress of children from [ethnic or racial] minority groups and children with disabilities."

Palmetto Assessment of State Standards (PASS) - Test items measure student performance on the South Carolina Academic Standards. PASS test results are used for school, district, and federal (NCLB) accountability purposes.

Self-efficacy: Self-efficacy is the belief held by a person that he or she has the capability to achieve his or her goals and is able to produce desired outcomes of performance, as well as having influence over the outcomes in his or her life (Bandura, 1994).

Teachers: For the purposes of this study, this group is composed of teachers who instruct students historically identified as low achievers in English and mathematics in one high school.

Teacher perception: This is the view teachers have of their students, who are identified as low achievers. Teacher perception of their students will be measured by a constructed survey known as Teacher Sense of Self-Efficacy.

Teacher expectation: The belief that students will achieve or underperform in a classroom setting.

Teacher Professional Development (TPD): This term is used to describe a variety of training programs designed to continue training and the acquisition of knowledge throughout a professional teaching career.

Tracking: The practice of grouping students based on perceived ability level into a set strand (track) of courses, usually referred to as general/low, technical/middle, and college-bound/upper, without the possibility of movement to courses associated with another track.

Assumptions and Limitations

One assumption inherent in this particular study is that students might be academically successful regardless of their classroom environment. This environment includes the curriculum, materials, resources, and/or teacher. Another assumption inherent in this study is the relationship between the social influences with other students in the same classroom setting. Social influences and interactions between peers and between teachers can be very complicated.

The study may have been limited with the focus of one school with two disciplines. The research was limited to English and mathematics teachers. The study may not yield any results that can be generalized to other situations or population.

Significance of the Study

The majority of previously conducted studies have concentrated upon the effects that tracking has on student dispositions in low-level tracked courses. The studies also

targeted how teachers employ a watered-down curriculum for these students. The research does not, however, compare and contrast the perception of teachers in one school. My research compares and contrasts teacher perceptions of the students who are placed in lower tracked classes. The teachers come from one suburban school in South Carolina. The comparison determines whether teacher perceptions are in line with or vastly different with one another.

The findings of this study will produce new knowledge and add to the understanding of how schools may better support student achievement by examining the possible influence of tracking structures on student and teacher perceptions of self-efficacy, teacher planning and instruction, and their expectations of these students. The information presented in this study will provide educators and leaders with a better understanding of how tracking impacts student self-efficacy and engagement.

This study has professional application regarding administrative decisions regarding teacher instructional assignments and student classroom assignment. Students who are grouped according to their perceived ability often have their own notions about their academic ability. The responsibility to dispel these potentially inaccurate notions ultimately falls on the teacher. This study will help educational leaders provide proper professional development and training so that teachers may be more successful in the classroom as they work with perceived low achievers. In addition, general teacher self-efficacy influences teacher ability. It may affect the motivation to believe that all students can learn and that teaching is a powerful tool in reaching and working with difficult or challenged children.

Ultimately, the study has the ability to impact social justice. The theoretical intention of this study is to bring awareness to the perceptions, attitudes, and expectations that teachers have toward their students. The study will assist with professional development of teachers who questionably use their background and cultures to develop and deliver curriculum which in turn either sets limits upon or unleashes possibilities for students.

Summary

This chapter provided the impetus for the study and reviewed the challenges that contribute to the research problem such as CCSS, homogeneous ability grouping, and low teacher expectation. Many intervention strategies have been developed that have attempted to improve student motivation and self-reflection in schools. However, many researchers believe that these attempts should have been focused on transforming schools, classrooms, and teaching practices rather than the students themselves. One of the reasons for low performance from students is linked to teacher expectations of these students and the lack of knowledge about how to motivate low achievers. Schools can assist teachers to accomplish a standardized perception of students by focusing on the use of a rigorous curriculum and ensuring universal accessibility to valuable resources regardless of the method used to organize the instructional setting. Researchers have found that teachers should be trained on how to motivate and have high expectations of all learners. There must be effective professional development so teachers can successfully implement new programs. Teachers must have a strong theoretical understanding of the programs and strategies being implemented.

Chapter 2 of the study explores the relevant literature, which provides background information on previous research studies on both tracking and self-efficacy. This review analyzes previous research to scaffold an understanding of what has been reviewed or discussed concerning tracking, teacher perceptions of students who are tracked into low-level, general education courses, and self-efficacy relations. Chapter 3 provides the research methodology and outlines the framework of the research design used in this single case study. The design framework and process delineated guides the collection, analysis, and preparation of the research data. Chapter 4 presents the results of data collection, analysis, and preparation as outlined in the previous chapter. Finally, Chapter 5 focuses on presenting the response to the research questions posed in Chapter 1, as well as provide implications for practice, recommendations for future research, and general conclusions.

Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

The purpose of this study is to examine teacher perceptions of students enrolled in lowlevel classes, the lasting impact and influences of tracking on those students, the instructional practices of faculty in those schools, the academic achievement of those students, and the faculty's academic expectations of these students. As pressure for school leaders to improve student achievement mounts, educational leadership must explore multiple ways to engage and motivate students to learn. By investigating practices such as tracking and self-efficacy, educational leaders can seek out alternative pathways for improving student learning. This literature review provides a foundational background on tracking, teacher self-efficacy, and student achievement. First, research and studies on tracking and its influence on student achievement is the focus of exploration. Second, teacher attitudes and perceptions of students tracked in low-level courses research is the next aspect of focus. Steps to close the achievement gap and increase student performance are the last component of the study's focus. The research was conducted in February 2013 using the ERIC database to find articles and books in print to set the historical stage. An emphasis on studies that explore student perceptions of motivational influences and student achievement data with regard to placement in tracked classes forms the basis of foundational research studies. In addition, student and teacher self-efficacy research is summarized.

Philosophy of Tracking

Oakes (1985) conducted a study of 38 schools in various parts of the nation, across different communities and socio-economic classes, focusing on the effects of tracking in schools. Oakes defined tracking as the process whereby students are divided into categories so they may be assigned to groups in various classes. Tracking is an organizational means of sorting students into different levels based upon such criteria as perceived ability, intelligence, or future career paths. Students are publicly identified by being grouped into classes according to their perceived ability level. Historically, tracking was thought to be the most effective and efficient means of working with or managing students. The fundamental nature of tracking is to create homogeneous groupings of students.

Implementation of Tracking in Schools

Tracking was initially implemented in schools to better meet student needs.

According to Oakes (1985), a number of educational organizations supported the idea of a differentiated curriculum to prepare students for their perceived future occupations. In a report created by the National Education Association (NEA) in 1918, the idea of high school as a means of preparing children for the future through a differentiated curriculum such as vocational, agricultural, or college preparation was widely supported (Oakes, 1985). The belief at the time was that by differentiating the curriculum and by grouping students homogeneously, teachers would be able to address student needs more efficiently and effectively.

In addition, teachers at the time felt that by separating groups of students into these specialized curricular programs, they were better able to prepare these students for specific careers or success in college programs (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990). In other words, teachers felt that students should be homogeneously grouped with others at the same perceived ability level so that the delivery of a specific and targeted curriculum could be more expeditiously facilitated. For example, students who were targeted as being able to meet the academic demands of college were given a more rigorous curriculum to better prepare them for the classical languages and academics. Teachers often believed that by placing these students in tracks, there would be more effective grouping and organizational system for schools to operate under (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990).

There were also widely held beliefs that students would be happier and more comfortable being around others of similar ability levels (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990). This in turn would create safety and a sense of security for those students who had not previously participated fully in their educational experience. Teachers could more readily focus on advanced students by giving them more challenging and rigorous curriculum, while those students who were not performing well academically could be given the necessary intervention at an appropriate academic level. One hundred years later, tracking is still a popular means for grouping students and for differentiating the curriculum.

Reported Benefits of Tracking

Many educators feel the benefits of tracking include the ability to more effectively teach students of various backgrounds, abilities, and levels of readiness. For example, students who are talented and gifted are often placed on an advanced or accelerated track at a very young age and often remain in the same track until graduation. Teachers who work with gifted and talented students might feel that these students will fail to achieve their fullest potential if placed with students who are not as quick to learn the materials and might slow down their potential growth in a subject or skills area (Oakes, 1985). These teachers also feel students who are more advanced will become bored and disengaged from the learning process unless continuously stimulated or challenged (Oakes, 1985). By having students who are not capable of keeping up with the more advanced students, the teachers are unable to meet the needs of the advanced students. This is based upon the premise that children learn best when they are with other children of the same ability, intelligence, or skill development (Oakes & Lipton, 1990).

Adverse Influences and Social Justice of Implementing Tracking

While proponents suggest that tracking is better for higher ability students so that there are no inhibiting forces at play in these classes, those who criticize tracking do so for a number of reasons. Tracking may be beneficial for academically advanced students, but Oakes (1985) argued that tracking might have negative consequences for students with weaker academic performance or for students who are perceived to have less motivation or capability to learn. Primarily, tracking may be seen as a means of segregating and separating students. One thing that is readily noticed by critics of the

tracking system is the disproportionate number of socioeconomically disadvantaged and racial minority students in lower track levels. Critics of tracking point out that this is simply a de facto means of segregating students along social and racial lines (Rubin & Noguera, 2004). Thus, racial minorities and students who are socioeconomically disadvantaged are placed in tracks that are not often associated with going to college, but instead are focused on vocational trades or simply entering the workforce directly after high school. According to Rubin and Noguera (2004), "... detracking has been embraced as part of a larger effort to promote equity in academic outcomes" (Rubin & Noguera, 2004, p.93). According to Bellanca and Swartz (1993), tracking is a systematic, valuebased, and political problem. Tracking as a whole presents as a systematic problem because it is a traditional means of grouping students with the factory model of education which focuses on efficiency as its historical basis. Bellanca and Swartz (1993) proposed the idea that tracking was a value-based problem because students who are assigned to the lowest tracks are often locked into a rigid sequence of courses that lead to lower expectations. Tracking is a political problem because there is a disproportionate representation of disadvantaged students, racial minority students, and non-English speaking students in lower tracks, which also supports the idea that it is easier to manage content, classroom discipline, and skill development when students are with other students of like abilities or skill levels (Oakes, 1985). Hallinan (1994) reported "the quantity and quality of instruction increases with the level of track. The curriculum and instruction were more interesting and engaging in higher tracks" (p.80).

According to Hallinan (1991), "race is associated with test scores, which are usually equated with academic ability. Because Black students generally attain lower average test scores than White students, racial composition is expected to have an indirect effect on track structure through its relationship to student ability" (p.253). Furthermore, Ansalone (2001) proposed that the system of tracking helps to perpetuate the poverty cycle since students who are often in the lowest tracks are the socioeconomically disadvantaged students. Berlek (2009) refers to this as a form of institutional racism, which is difficult to eradicate because racist practices are often invisible and simply seen as accepted standard operating procedures within institutions. Educators believe that tracking is a natural way of conducting sound pedagogy within schools, and they are likely to continue its practice without realizing it may be racist.

Another criticism against tracking is that the placement of a student in one track or another is often done through highly judgmental, opinionated, or subjective means. For example, while some schools have utilized intelligence tests or standardized achievement tests as a means of placing students in tracks, others might simply place students into a specific track based upon criteria that are neither academic nor ability based. Sometimes, placement in a lower level track might simply be based upon criteria such as behavior in the classroom rather than the student's academic potential or intelligence. Additionally, students might be placed in specific career-focused tracks simply because it is what someone perceives to be the best career for them based on background, experience, ethnicity, or race. According to Hallinan (1991), "given the implications of a school's tracking system for student opportunities to learn, school personnel need to be aware of

the consequences of their decisions for students' access to the curriculum and to school resources" (p.273).

The Influences of Tracking and Teacher Attitudes and Perceptions

Oakes (1985), Oakes and Lipton (1990), and Burris and Garrity (2008) proposed that a culture of expectation has arisen to create floating standards for the various track levels with higher, more rigorous curriculum and instruction for the higher level tracked students and the opposite for lower tracked students. In other words, teachers tend to have higher expectations for academic performance and create more rigorous courses for higher tracked students. Teachers' minimal expectations of lower tracked students result in "watered-down" curriculum and instruction. This discrepancy in the level of expectations for lower versus higher tracked students also tends to lead toward correlating social attributes for these levels such as behavioral problems (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990).

While teachers' attitude towards tracking reflect their levels of expectations for student performance, Oakes (1985) cited results of a study in which students were surveyed regarding their own perception and attitudes about being placed in a tracked system. Oakes (1985) discovered that students in lower level courses thought of themselves as not being smart and successful. Oakes (1985) found that the opposite held true for students in higher tracked levels. These students had a strong self-concept and regarded themselves as being smart and successful. These studies reveal that tracking may have harmful or deleterious effects on student achievement and self-efficacy.

According to Atkins and Ellsesser (2003), teacher attitudes and perspectives toward tracking differ greatly. In an online survey, responses varied from teachers who believed that tracking provided a clear and focused level of instruction while others viewed tracking as archaic and as a system of suppressing racial minority students. In addition, teachers expressed that maintaining high levels of expectation and rigor in all classes was a more important issue than tracking.

Finley (1984) conducted research on teacher perceptions of tracking at a large suburban high school that served a diverse student population. At this high school there were four tracks for gifted, advanced, average, and remedial courses. The determination of tracking was based upon previous academic work, a department-created achievement test, and teacher recommendation. According to Finley's research, teachers had a more positive attitude toward higher tracked students and their abilities and a negative attitude toward to lower tracked students. Teachers were more enthusiastic about teaching higher tracked students; they felt that it was more rewarding. In addition, teachers generally viewed higher tracked students as more intelligent, motivated, and disciplined. On the other hand, teachers viewed teaching lower tracked classes as frustrating, less rewarding, and presenting more discipline issues. These attitudes were also reflected in the rigor, or lack of rigor, in the curriculum content and expectations. Teachers viewed high-level courses as having a curriculum focused on college achievement and lower tracked courses as decidedly less academic in nature (Finley, 1984).

Van Houtte (2006) completed an analysis of 711 teachers and 3,760 students at 34 Belgium secondary schools. Results of the study indicated there was a relationship

between teacher satisfaction and tracks, or levels of courses they taught. This analysis found that teachers in vocational and technical tracks were slightly less satisfied with their jobs than teachers in general education tracks or schools. One of the primary reasons for the level of teacher satisfaction was teacher perception of student attitudes toward studying and academics. Van Houtte (2006) proposed that teacher job satisfaction is influenced by the amount of trust or distrust they have in the ability of their students to meet expectations. In higher tracked schools, this research also noted that teachers had a higher amount of trust that students would meet their academic and social expectations. Conversely, there was a lower amount of trust exhibited by teachers in vocational or technical schools.

In a separate study on the influence of tracking and school culture, Van Houtte (2004) explored the idea that "teachers' instructional practice is considered as a surface manifestation of staff culture, and then staff culture is linked to tracking, on the one hand, and to the individual pupil's achievement on the other hand" (p. 373). This study found that "it is demonstrated that the occurrence of failure is determined by school type: the chance of failing is higher in technical-vocational schools than in general schools" (p. 380). In addition, school culture was dependent upon the type of school—higher academic general schools or lower vocational-technical schools—and teacher expectations for student performance. Teacher attitudes can greatly influence student outcomes (Van Houtte, 2006).

Self -Efficacy

While tracking issues deal mostly with the organizational, academic, and social structure of school's grouping and curriculum patterns, the need to understand the impact of tracking on teacher perception or psychological influences will add to the overall comprehension of how successful grouping practices are with improving student achievement. Self-efficacy is a concept rooted in social cognitive theory that focuses on understanding what motivates people to want to achieve. Albert Bandura (1994) described perceived self-efficacy as the beliefs that people have about their ability to produce levels of performance or to achieve specific outcomes. Perceived self-efficacy also relates not only to a person's belief about his or her abilities in performance, but also to his or her ability to mitigate or overcome other events that might affect his or her life (Bandura, 1994).

Self-efficacy beliefs influence how a person is motivated, how he or she feels about events in his or her life, and how he or she behaves (Bandura, 1994). According to Bandura (1994) positive self-efficacy is associated with higher levels of performance, with the attainment of goals, and with a sense of well-being. In addition, it was proposed that "such an efficacious outlook fosters intrinsic interest and deep engrossment in activities. [People] set ... challenging goals and maintain strong commitment to them."

Teacher self-efficacy is a concept that focuses on a teacher's level of self-confidence in achieving instructional goals. This concept is seen as a critical understanding for educational leaders in promoting improved student performance as well as maintaining teacher retention and performance (Tschannen-Moran, Hoy, & Hoy,

1998). Protheroe (2008) described teachers who have a strong sense of self-efficacy as having greater abilities and efforts related to lesson planning and preparation and execution of instructional strategies. This study also defined two different types of teacher self-efficacy: personal teacher efficacy and general teacher efficacy. Personal teacher self-efficacy refers to the belief that a teacher has in his or her ability to successfully teach students and in his or her instructional expertise (Tschannen-Moran, Hoy, & Hoy, 1998; Protheroe, 2008). On the other hand, general teacher self-efficacy refers to a teacher's overall general belief about how powerful teaching can be in reaching students of various ability levels or backgrounds (Tschannen-Moran, Hoy, & Hoy, 1998; Protheroe, 2008).

In 1968, Rosenthal and Jacobson completed a study in which elementary school teachers received false information about the ability level of their students. They were provided a list of students who, based on their test scores, were predicted to blossom academically. The names of the list were randomly selected but the teachers were not aware of this. After assessing these students at the end of the school year, the students on the list did indeed blossom compared with those not on the list. There was a more positive effect on Latino and Black children than on White children (Brook, 2002; Schunk, 1992).

Hardre and Sullivan (2009) found that along with high school teachers' perceptions of teacher efficacy, teacher belief and perception of student motivational needs influenced the selection and use of instructional strategies. Ninety-six teachers in 15 high schools were surveyed with a questionnaire that focused on student motivation,

causes for student motivation or a lack thereof, and teacher feelings of efficacy and effectiveness for motivating and teaching students to learn (Hardre & Sullivan, 2009). Results of the study confirmed that teacher levels of efficacy strongly predicted the supportiveness of their classroom environment and the use of internally focused strategies.

Teachers can also play a strong role in a student's development of self-efficacy. Bandura (1994) noted that teachers who have a strong sense of self-efficacy about their teaching skills and capabilities to work with students feel more able to motivate students and contribute to their cognitive development (Bandura, 1994). On the other hand, teachers with a weak sense of self-efficacy tend to "favor a custodial orientation that relies heavily on negative sanctions to get students to study" (Bandura, 1994). The school's social system and culture might also impact teacher feelings of self-efficacy.

Teacher Efficacy and Student Performance

Brophy and Good (1974) conducted a study that provided a comprehensive model of how teacher expectations could influence children's achievement. The model posits that teacher expectations indirectly affect student achievement. Teachers form expectations for students early in the academic year. Based on these expectations, they behave differently toward different students; Students who accept the teacher's expectations will be more likely to act in ways that confirm the teacher's initial expectations. This process will ultimately affect student achievement so that a teacher's initial expectations are confirmed (Schunk, et. al).

According to Bandura (1994) schools have strong potential to shape a student's self-efficacy belief system. This self-efficacy belief system is influenced by the school's culture of academic and social expectations conveyed upon the children through a collective sense of student ability to academically achieve (Bandura, 1994). Therefore, "schools in which staff members collectively judge themselves capable of promoting academic success imbue their schools with a positive atmosphere for development that promotes academic attainments regardless of whether they serve predominantly advantaged or disadvantaged students" (Bandura, 1994).

Furthermore, when teachers use effective forms of feedback as part of daily instructional practice, student feelings of self-efficacy can be heightened (Schunk &Pajares, 2001). They suggested:

Feedback is a persuasive source of self-efficacy information. Performance feedback informs learners of goal progress, strengthens self-efficacy, and sustains motivation. Attributional feedback links outcomes with one or more attributions (perceived causes). In the early stages of learning, effort feedback is highly credible to students (e.g., "You got it right because you worked hard."). As skills improve, switching to ability feedback (e.g., "You are good at this.") may be more credible and have stronger influence on self-efficacy. (p.16)

Schunk and Pajares (2001) noted that other factors in schools weaken self-efficacy. These include the use of norm-referenced assessments, lack of teacher attention, and the challenges and stresses associated with transitional phases of growth and development. In addition, Bandura (1994) stated that classroom environment plays a key role in the development of intellectual self-efficacy. Specifically, the use of differentiated instruction based on individual needs rather than whole group instruction was cited as beneficial. Bandura (1994) pointed out that when students placed in lower ability groups

compared themselves with groups who studied the same curriculum and used the same materials, and when teachers or adults make frequent comparisons between students, these students ranked themselves at a very low level of capability. Consequently, these students established reputations associated with a lack of academic success (Bandura, 1994). On the other hand, when classroom environments recognized uniqueness and differences and when there was individualized instruction that was "... tailored to students' knowledge and skills," students were able to build on their competencies and were not subject to "demoralizing social comparison" (Bandura, 1994).

Teacher self-efficacy beliefs center on the perception that each teacher has the ability and skill to influence student motivation, willingness to learn, and ability to achieve learning goals (Hoy & Davis, 2006). In other words, teacher self-efficacy is the teacher's belief in being able to "organize and execute the courses of action required to successfully accomplish a specific teaching task in a particular context" (p.#, 2006). The conceptual framework behind teacher self-efficacy is derived from social cognitive theories that propose that individual perspectives and attitudes influence the teacher's effort and ability to accomplish educational goals and outcomes with students (Hoy & Davis, 2006). In addition, influences on teacher self-efficacy are based upon the cognitive interpretation that the teacher has about the analysis of the teaching task and its context and the analysis of teacher competency to achieve the task, as well as the four basic self-efficacy principles of mastery experiences, psychological arousal, vicarious experiences, and verbal persuasion (Hoy & Davis, 2006).

Moreover, teacher self-efficacy is also content specific. Teachers may feel more effective in teaching content about which they are more knowledgeable, more skillful, or more experienced. Also, teachers may have stronger feelings of self-efficacy with specific groups of students. For example, a teacher may have more feelings of self-efficacy and the ability to be successful with Honors or Advanced Placement (AP) students than remedial or special education students (Hoy & Davis, 2006). In addition, teacher self-efficacy influences the types of instructional methods used in the classroom. Teachers with a higher sense of self-efficacy tend to use more inquiry-based methods of instruction, whereas teachers with a lower sense of self-efficacy tend to avoid hands-on learning and problem-solving learning experiences (Hoy & Davis, 2006).

The majority of previously conducted studies have concentrated upon the effects of teacher perceptions on individual students who are grouped according to their ability. The research is limited on how teachers perceive the students in low-level classes as individuals. This research targets teacher expectations of their classes as a collective group as well as teacher perception and ability to teach students who are in tracked in low-level class as CCSS is implemented. It will also compare and contrast teacher expectations of these students. The comparison will determine whether teacher perceptions are the same as or vastly different from other mathematics and English teachers.

Closing the Achievement Gap and Tracking

The achievement gap has long been of great interest to many in education. The relationship between the organizational and systemic practice of tracking has been under

debate due to the belief that tracking may exacerbate the achievement gap experienced by racial minorities, economically underprivileged students, and special education students (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990).

A key element in the effort to eliminate tracking is for educators to establish and maintain high expectations for all students (Petrilli, 2011). It is more challenging to teach mixed ability classes, and it requires more creativity and planning on the part of the teachers. In his book, *Black Students, Middle Class Teacher*, Kunjufu (2002) stated, "I believe that the most important factor impacting the academic achievement of African-American children is not the race or gender of the teacher, but the teacher's expectations. Teachers often get away with having low expectations and standards for low tracked classes" (p. 47). Boaler (2006) stated, "Students knew the expectations of the students, and the students were able to rise to the teacher's expectations" (p. 43). Berlak reiterated, "The explanation Claude Steeler offers is that [B]lack students know they are especially likely to be seen as having limited ability. It is a serious intimidation, implying as it does that if they should perform badly, they may not belong in walks of life where their tested abilities are important" (p. 66). He called this phenomenon "stereotype vulnerability."

Portes (2008) conducted a longitudinal study of the NAEP. In his study, Portes (2008) proposed that despite key efforts to close the achievement gap through federal and private programs, these programs have had very little impact in closing the gap and bringing up a substantial and significant number of subgroup populations' achievement scores.

Portes (2008) suggested that despite recent political attempts to lessen the achievement gap, there still persists an academic achievement gap between racial and ethnic subgroup populations. This research argued that such "single shot" reforms like charter schools that fail to address a wider socioeconomic problem will probably fail. More research needs to be completed in order to develop more encompassing socioeconomic and academic reforms to truly redress the achievement gap issue. The analysis of NAEP data over a period of several years highlighted when key reforms were introduced which supported this idea. Furthermore, Portes (2008) investigated additional data from intelligence test scores and the impact of social policy on those scores. As the demands for closing the achievement gap continue unabated, reviewing educational practices such as tracking becomes an important area of discussion and debate.

New findings based on more than 20 years of research suggest that despite decades of controversy, teachers do not perceive a problem with placing students into "ability groups" (Toppo, 2013). This study expounds upon how ability grouping affects student academic growth and explores possible measures to close the achievement gap. The research focuses on the seemingly ingrained aspect of the perceived positives of tracking. In addition, it also focuses on teacher perceptions of students who are tracked in lower level classes. There are teachers, schools, and districts that still cling to an outdated system of educational practice in the face of increasing numbers of studies that seem to contradict or at least minimize the need for tracking. While disconcerting, it is an area of study that must be examined and explored in anticipation of the backlash and

dismissal of any educator seeking to undo the practice of tracking. Research must take the lead in dismantling the historical base from which these notions and maxims begun.

Summary

The mandates of NCLB and the new CCSS have brought renewed and vigorous attention to the problems of an academic achievement gap between disadvantaged students and their counterparts. By demanding that focused attention be paid to subgroup populations, NCLB, as well as CCSS, has also forced schools to analyze and investigate action to close this achievement gap. While there are many programs that have been suggested as ways to decrease the achievement gap, one answer may lie in de-tracking.

Arguments and research for the efficacy of ability grouping yield conflicting data. While there have been great strides to research and document what grouping practice works most effectively for student achievement gains, there are gaps in the overall body of research and the ability to consistently replicate the findings of previous studies. Loveless (1999) stated "the wisdom of tracking reform is an open question" (p.31). Archbald and Keleher (2008) suggested there needs to be better control and management of data-driven decision making for schools as they analyze the results and effects of tracking. Only when schools are better able to utilize appropriate and disaggregated data will teachers be better informed as to whether or not they should pursue or discontinuing tracking practices (Archbald & Keleher, 2008).

Arguments have been made against the idea of de-tracking and organizing students into heterogeneous groups. One group against de-tracking argues in favor of homogeneous ability groupings for gifted and talented students. Advocates of gifted and

talented education propose that there is a need for ability grouping, especially in order to meet the needs of students who are gifted and talented (Fiedler & Lange, 1993; Kaplan, 2007; Tieso, 2003).

Proponents of de-tracking cite that tracking influences how student perceive themselves and what future expectations they have for themselves. As a result, those students in lower tracks often have minimal expectations for future success (Oakes, 1985). In addition, proponents of de-tracking point out that there is little evidence to suggest that ability grouping has a positive effect on the achievement subgroup populations. In fact, proponents of de-tracking argue that ability grouping is a cause of widening achievement gap (Burris & Garrity, 2008; Oakes, 1985; Oakes & Lipton, 1990). According to Rubin and Noguera (2006), "... tracking serves to perpetuate and reinforce educational inequities along race and class lines." Therefore, many proponents of de-tracking suggest that one of the ways to close the achievement gap is to de-track schools.

In addition to the influence of tracking, the perceptions of teachers play an important role in student achievement. The social cognitive perception of self-efficacy and student engagement has been found to be influential on feelings of effectiveness and levels of motivation. Since teacher efficacy is related to effective instructional practices, the importance of educational leaders in better understanding what impacts teacher efficacy could be an important facet of exploring ways to improve student achievement and motivation. Teachers who have a stronger sense of efficacy tend to have greater skills associated with planning, preparation, instructional practice, and experimenting with new

strategies (Protheroe, 2008). In addition, those who have shown a stronger sense of efficacy tend to be less critical of student errors. These teachers have viewpoint that all students can achieve despite challenges (Protheroe, 2008).

By investigating the classroom environment associated with teacher and student perceptions of self-efficacy and engagement, a richer understanding of the method by which students are grouped may add to the overall understanding of how best to work with students, give students an optimal environment for learning, and close the achievement gap. This research will also give credence and support to those teachers, schools, and districts that seek to find more effective and less isolating ways to close the achievement gap and ensure that all students are given fair and equal access to the best educational experiences.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Introduction

Since the reauthorization of ESEA known as NCLB and the implementation of CCSS, there has been an increased amount of attention paid to closing the achievement gap between those students who continually perform well on state standardized assessments and those who do not. One way that many educational reformists believe the achievement gap can be reduced is minimizing the number of ability groupings for students (Burris & Welner, 2005; Oakes, 1985). More research is needed to explore how student and teacher self-efficacy are influenced when these homogenous ability groups are used in schools. The purpose of this qualitative study is to examine teacher perceptions of students enrolled in low-level classes, as well as to examine their expectations of these students.

As stated in Chapter 1, this research study is guided by the following research questions:

- 1. How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?
- 2. What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?
- 3. How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

Several sources of evidence were used to collect data in order to answer the research questions. Documentation and archival records of student data and assessment

scores, state and district records of student achievement, and demographic information were collected and analyzed to determine the influence of tracking on student course enrollment and achievement. Interviews, observations, and teachers' assessments were used to triangulate teacher perceptions related to the self-efficacy of teachers.

Research Design and Approach

This qualitative study collected data with the purpose of associating the subjectivity, personal observations and reflections, and the understanding of human behaviors as collected from the participants with the related study research questions. The selection of inquiry method was dependent on the experience of the researcher as well as on the research question itself (Creswell, 2009).

For the purpose of this single case study, qualitative research was used to explore the link between teacher perception of students who are historically identified as low achievers and the impact of teacher perceptions on lesson planning and expectations of these students. Qualitative methodological techniques, specifically the case study approach, were used to examine the circumscribed system of high school tracking and its resulting implications (Merriam, 1998). The research method offered the ability to collect data of breadth and depth that more effectively answered questions examining the perceptions and beliefs of the participants. The case study method encapsulates "a phenomenon of some sort occurring in bounded context" (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p. 25). This method helped to undercover underlying motivations and factors that influence the participants' daily decision making. As Merriam (1998) explained, "The key concern

is understanding the phenomenon of interest from the participants' perspective, not the researcher's." (p. 52).

For the purpose of this research study, the single case study approach was used to attain a greater depth of understanding on tracking at one school building using multiple points of information and evidence for triangulation. High school core subject English and mathematics teachers were observed and interviewed to gain information about their perception of these students, their ability level to teach these students, and their level of expectations for these students.

By focusing on one school and analyzing the phenomenon of tracking with different items, this research study mimicked what an educational leader would experience when he or she performs self-analysis of his or her own building and organization. This reflective approach provides practitioners in the field an example of how to conduct internal audits of their own systems' processes or organizational structures and the possible influence of these structures on student performance. Thus educational leaders can focus on analyzing multiple facets of a phenomenon to arrive at more effective solutions for these problems. In addition, the focus of qualitative research adds a deeper perspective of how participants respond to broader tracking and their level of expectations of students who are tracked in low-level classes. It examines how participants feel or think about this phenomenon.

Setting and Sample

The research was conducted at one school in order to gain a greater understanding of certain phenomenon within these settings. The ability to go into great depth is an inherent

strength of the case study approach. The population for this study consisted of high school teachers within a single school from a school district located in the southeast part of the United States. The school is part of a district that serves over 25,000 students in suburban and rural areas. The high school under investigation enrolls approximately 1,600 students with a racial composition of 48% African American, 46% Caucasian, 3% Latino, 1% Asian, and 2% other. There are 33% of the students who are eligible for free or reduced lunch. There are 94 teachers at the school, and 35 of those are National Board Certified.

A convenience sample was used in this study. A convenience sample is a non-probability sampling technique that is commonly used because of the accessibility of the audience or sample to the researcher (Castillo, 2009). The researcher used a convenience sample in this study because of accessibility and to honor the limited nature of the single case study focusing only on one school building and not on a larger group. In addition, the researcher used a convenience sample because of the need to limit the teacher and student group to two content or subject area. The study's findings may have transferability to other cases with demographics similar to the case under investigation (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

For this particular study, the selected participants were four teachers who taught students who have been tracked into lower level classes. The teachers instructed students tracked to take Algebra I Part 1, Algebra I Part 2, Geometry Regular, Probability and Statistic Regular, along with Freshman English and its supplementary Remedial Reading course. The participants in the research were two Algebra I, Part 2 teachers and two

Freshmen English teachers. The teachers were either assigned to teach these classes or they requested to teach these classes. The teachers' course assignments ranged from regular-level classes to honors classes. They either taught all low-level classes, college prep classes, or a combination of lower level, college prep, or honors classes.

Students who are tracked in English 1 CP classes consist of rising freshmen who attain a score of less than 227 during the fall assessment of MAP testing and a score of 230 or less during the spring assessment. Even though the English 1 class is heterogeneously grouped, the students who have been identified as low achievers are placed in a reading class during their freshmen year of high school. The English I reading teachers use this extra class time to supplement the reading skills of students who read at or below grade level. They focus on the comprehension skills of inference, identifying details, predicting, summarizing, clarifying, and evaluating. The placement of these students also relies heavily on teacher recommendations. These students typically remain on this lower level track until graduation. Students who are tracked in lower level mathematics classes consist of rising freshmen and sophomores who score below basic on PASS and below the 50th percentile on their fall MAP assessment.

Instrumentation and Materials

Interview questions and classroom observations were utilized to gather the qualitative data in this single method case study. In addition, teacher lesson plans were used to triangulate the interview and observation data. The total data collection served as a means to triangulate data and increase the credibility of the research findings.

The researcher used a semi-structured interview guide of questions. Semi-structured interview questions are more open ended and less directed to allow the participant to more accurately express the perceptions of the event under investigation (Merriam, 1998). Because a semi-structured interview format was used, this guide served as an outline to assure consistent topic inquiry from participant to participant. By nature of the qualitative interview process, participant responses led to further spontaneous questions of inquiry or clarification that were not specified on the guide. The questions were designed to investigate teacher attitudes on tracking, the achievement gap, expectations of students who are tracked in low level courses, and teacher perception of their ability to teach these students. The questions provided a check on what the participants think, as well as an opportunity for yet more information, opinions, and feelings to be revealed (Merriam, 1998). A recording device was used to capture the entire interview narrative. The recordings were transcribed and a verbatim transcript was produced for coding and analysis.

The interview protocol questions were developed based upon the Teacher Self Efficacy Survey (TSES). The protocol was pilot tested with a secondary core subject teacher. The following questions were used to conduct the interview:

- 1. How do you perceive academic tracking?
- 2. Do you feel tracking bridges or widens the academic achievement gap? (How?)
- 3. Do students who are tracked in low-level classes achieve in your class or do they maintain the status quo?
- 4. Do you believe tracking of students is necessary? Why or Why not?

- 5. How do you perceive the academic ability of students who are tracked in low-level classes?
- 6. Imagine that you are a slow learner in your classroom—what do you think you would find to be the most difficult?
- 7. In what ways do children who are low achievers influence your perceptions of yourself as a teacher?
- 8. What are your expectations of students who are tracked in low-level classes compared to your expectations of student who are tracked in college prep or honors classes?
- 9. How do you motivate students who are academically challenged?
- 10. How much do you do to help students to believe that they can do well in school?
- 11. What do you do to get students to value learning?
- 12. Do you feel you are a student motivator? (If so, how? If not, why?)
- 13. Do you feel you are presently able to meet the needs of children who are low achievers in your classroom? (If so, how? If not, why?)
- 14. Are there any barriers that you can tell me about that would prevent children who are low achievers from being successful in the classroom?

Validity and Reliability

Creswell (2007) contended reliability is accomplished through obtaining detailed field notes, audio recordings, and transcription. These methods were employed in this research study. Each interview was digitally recorded, and the researcher took notes during the interviews and observations. The interviews were sent to a professional

transcriber to transcribe each digitally recorded interview. Upon the return of the transcripts, the researcher compared the transcription with the digital recording for accuracy.

Several steps were taken to ensure credibility, dependability, and trustworthiness during the research process. Careful documentation and coding of data were used in the research study, also known as an audit log. Member checks were utilized in an effort to confirm and verify the authenticity of the participants' experiences. After the transcription of the interviews, they were compiled onto a document organized by the participants' pseudonyms. The documents were e-mailed to the participants for their review. Peer debriefing was utilized to ensure the accuracy of the coding and to confirm that the data are consistent with the findings.

Data Collection

Case study research design utilizes multiple points of evidence in order to build reliability and validity (Yin, 2009). For this single case study, multiple sources of evidence were collected to gain a greater understanding of tracking and how teachers perceive the students who tracked in these classes. The data also served as evidence of teacher expectation. Teacher participants were interviewed for approximately one hour, observed for two class sessions, and then interviewed for a follow-up session for approximately 30 minutes.

In order to better understand how tracking affects student achievement, the researcher collected teachers' lesson plans and compared them with the responses from teacher interviews and observations. The data collected for research questions related to

student course enrollment data and achievement were pulled from archival information related to student demographics, student PASS scores, MAP scores, and teacher recommendations. The researcher was able to access PASS and MAP from the district website using Enrich. Enrich is a database in which student test scores are archived. The researcher obtained permission from the school district to access these records.

Data Analysis

The researcher used multiple data sources to analyze the data and understand the phenomenon under investigation. As a case study in the qualitative tradition, the research questions ultimately focused on the cultural and social regularities of everyday life (Merriam, 1998). This method was applied to determine the teacher perceptions of students, their self-efficacy, and their expectations of students tracked in low-level classes. It sought to explore the existence, if any, of possible themes evidencing similarities and differences among the participant narratives and the related documentation regarding teacher perceptions of self-efficacy between course level/track taught in each area of self-efficacy.

Protective Measures

For the purpose of this single case study research, the following ethical considerations were addressed. According to Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), student identification of academic records must be kept confidential. Student information remained private and confidential. In addition, ethical consideration was given during the interviews and observations. All teachers who participated in this

research study were provided informed consent documentation to sign. No personal information was collected from the teachers (See Appendix A).

Summary

For the purposes of this single method research study, the researcher used qualitative data to address the research questions. Using qualitative data in this particular situation added a dimension of understanding to the phenomenon of tracking or ability grouping practices in public high schools. Interview questions, observations, and teacher lesson plans were used to triangulate and add to the credibility and trustworthiness of the research.

This methodology chapter provided the framework of the research design used in this single case study. The design framework and process delineated in this chapter guided the researcher in the collecting, conducting, and processing of research data. In the next chapter, the data collection and analysis of the research design is delineated and organized according to the three research questions, which will be used as a framing device for the structure of the chapter. Specifically, multiple points of data will be collected and analyzed in support of this qualitative method single case study design.

Chapter 4: Results and Findings

The purpose of the study was to investigate teacher perceptions of students enrolled in low-level classes. The study investigated how high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap, the types of expectations high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students, and how high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students. Participants provided their personal thoughts on academic tracking, their expectations of their students who are tracked, and their perceived ability to teach these students. They responded to interview questions presented by the researcher.

This chapter is divided into five sections. The first section is an overview of the participant demographics characteristics, academic experience, and classes taught. The second section describes themes that emerged from the interviews and includes sample quotes from by the participants and the interviewer. The third section describes notes from the researcher's observation. The fourth section examines a lesson plan from each participant from the lesson that was observed to triangulate the data. Finally, issues of subjectivity, validity, and limitations of the study are discussed.

The following research questions were addressed through collected data and interpretations as follows:

- 1. How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?
- 2. What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?
- 3. How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

Materials

The researcher used an interview guide of questions. Because a semi-structured interview format was used, this guide served as an outline to assure consistent topic inquiry from participant to participant. By nature of the qualitative interview process, participant responses lead to further spontaneous questions of inquiry or clarification not specified on the guide. An iPad was used to record the entire interview process. In addition, a journal was used to recode data from the observations.

Overview of Participants

Participants interviewed for this study were four teachers; two mathematics and two English teachers. The chart below presents a breakdown of their demographic background:

Table 4.1: Demographic Breakdown of Study Participants

	Gender	Race	Teaching Experience (Years)	Age	Subject/ Course
Participant 1	Male	Black	30+	54	Algebra I, Part 2
Participant 2	Female	White	10	34	Algebra I, Part 2
Participant 3	Female	Black	8	32	English I/Reading
Participant 4	Female	White	21	43	English I/Reading

Participants Interviews and Profiles

Data collection began in November 2013 with scheduled face-to-face interviews for all participants. The participants were given the interview questions prior to their interview. This gave each participant time to reflect on the questions before the interview. All interviews were completed by January 2014. Participants were coded as Participants 1-4 in this analysis.

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with each participant in a private setting. Interviews took place on the school campus at the interviewee's time and place of convenience. Length of the interview varied from teacher to teacher, but on average lasted one to two hours. Prior to the interview, teachers were told that the purpose of the

research was to obtain their views and thoughts on working with children who have been identified as low achievers.

Participant 1 is from South Carolina. He attended Howard University in Washington, DC where he received a bachelor's degree in mathematics. He also received an academic scholarship to attend Howard University. He grew up in a two-parent home, and both of his parents graduated from college. There were three other sibling in the family. Participant 1 expressed that even though he felt he grew up with a humble beginning, he never desired or needed much that his parent could not provide.

Participant 1 is a basketball coach, so the interview took place in the gym where he spends most of his time. Before beginning the interview with the participant, the researcher ensured that the location was conducive to an uninterrupted interview.

Participant 1 seemed very relaxed and comfortable as the interview process began. The researcher noticed that he wrote down some responses to some of the question before the interview began, even though he did not actually refer to the paper during the interview.

Participant 1 has been teaching mathematics for over 30 years, and it appeared that he still enjoys his career as a teacher. He has been working at the present school for one and a half years. He stated that he felt very fortunate to have this job as a coach and mathematics teacher at his age.

Participant 2 is from South Carolina and grew up in a two-parent home. Both of her parents attended Clemson University, and she continued the tradition as well. She received an academic scholarship to attend Clemson where she majored in mathematics education. Participant 2 had one younger brother who also attended Clemson University.

The researcher scheduled a meeting with Participant 2 in her classroom during her planning period. The atmosphere was conductive for the interview, and the participant expressed her feelings about being interviewed and the opportunity to express her feelings about the interview questions. She stated that she was looking forward to the interview. She had a seat prepared for the researcher, and she also had responses to the interview questions written down. She sat on the edge of her seat as the interview began. Participant 2 has been teaching for 10 years, and she has never taught at any other school but the present school. She enjoyed her job as mathematics teacher, but she felt it was time to make a change to another school due to her commute.

Participant 3 is from South Carolina and attended the University of South Carolina where she received an education degree in English education. She too grew up in a two-parent home with two younger brothers. One parent attended college and worked for the state of South Carolina. The other parent worked in the restaurant business.

The researcher scheduled a meeting with Participant 3 in her classroom during her planning period as well. The researcher and the participant agreed that her school would be a good location to conduct the interview. Sitting in her classroom and observing all of the material used to enhance student learning was very enlightening and moving. The classroom appeared to be very inviting to students. Participant 3 stated that she teaches with dim lights so students felt like they were in a relaxed and comfortable environment. She explained her responsibilities as an English teacher with excitement and enthusiasm.

Participant 4 is from Ohio and grew up on a dairy farm. She is the youngest of six children. Her father moved them to South Carolina when she was nine for better weather and job opportunity. Their diet came directly from the garden that was grown in their backyard. Participant 4 scheduled her interview at the high school where she worked after the students left for the day. Participant 4 revealed that she enjoyed teaching children, but she felt she could never accomplish everything she needs to do to be a successful teacher. The room was decorated with several stations of English books and posters that showed the rules for writing. This made the atmosphere very relaxing and comfortable. She began the interview with a brief background of herself and her college experiences. She explained that she worked her way through college, and her mother was one of nine children who graduated with a high school diploma. She stated that she wanted more out of life than what her mother possessed. After confirming and validating original quotes extracted from the interviews, the researcher utilized 36 of the original quotes from the participants' narratives collected to gauge their perceptions on teaching low achievers. After each quote, the participant code number is presented.

Teacher Perception of Tracking

The first six questions pertained to tracking and the associated achievement gap resulting from and exacerbated by tracking.

Two of the four participants felt that tracking was beneficial to promote learning for low achievers. They felt it was necessary for students who have been identified as low achievers to be with other students who are considered low achievers so the teacher can collectively work on their deficiencies.

I feel like it's been around for a long time from what I can gather, and I feel like it's necessary. It helps put kids that have certain deficiencies together, and I think it gives the teacher a chance to work on those deficiencies. And the students who are maybe the higher achievers can still move at a faster pace if they're in another class. (Participant 1)

I think it's beneficial to the lower level students, particularly because if they're not tracked in the beginning a lot of them get left behind. A lot of times they fall behind in the summers in elementary school, and when they come back they're already behind. I feel like it's a vicious cycle. And when they're in the classes where they're all mixed in, I guess that would be heterogeneously, I feel like they don't strive as much because they lose some self-confidence. (Participant 2)

On the other hand, one of the participants supported tracking if the right conditions were in place. One commented,

I think if you're going to track kids to know where they stand, then we have to give a sincere opportunity to meet kids really where they are, and we have to make it feasible and realistic.

When asked if she could give an example of the right condition, she further explained that as smaller classroom size would qualify. (Participant 3)

Conversely, one participant felt tracking was not necessary and felt it trapped the student.

Tracking is not necessary and it does not benefit students. Academic tracking for students who might not have performed well in elementary or middle school needs to be moved into more advanced classes, but the stigma is there that "oh, we can't change them into a more advanced." So, tracking students traps them, especially at the high school level since they grow and mature and chance so much. (Participant 4)

Two of the participants felt that tracking bridges the achievement gap.

I really think that it bridges the gaps. (Participant 1)

I am a product of tracking, and I like it this way. (Participant 2)

One participant was unsure because she did not know of a situation where tracking had effectively benefitted students.

That's really hard for me to say. I'm not sure that I've ever seen it done effectively or done differently. (Participant 3)

The researcher asked for an example for an effective situation.

Maybe when the stronger kids can truly work with the other kids without lacking on their part, and the kids that are maybe struggling in the same area would have an opportunity to grow. But, I think sometimes, for some reason there is a pressure to hurry up and get certain things done due to standardized testing. Standardized testing is almost a filtering system. (Participant3)

Conversely to the other responses, one participant felt it widens the achievement gap.

It widens the gap. Again, students who do not want to perform are apathetic, and are tracked and trapped into those honors level classes. But yet the students who mature socially and cognitively, they might be trapped in what we call regular level track. (Participant 4)

When asked whether students achieve well when they are tracked in low-level classes or whether they maintain the status quo, three of the participants felt that their students achieve better when they are placed in low-level classes.

The class that I had last year, I probably had about three-fourths of those students that I felt like really mastered the objectives that we had in the Algebra I, Part 2 class, based on the EOC scores. (Participant 1)

A lot of times they achieve well. (Participant 3)

I would say yes because I think when they're with students who are way above them, they lose some self-confidence and they just kind of give up. (Participant 2)

One participant felt that when students who have been identified as low achievers are placed in classes with college prep students, they perform better.

When I use to teach classes that were strictly college prep or strictly regular, in the strictly regular classes, the students really struggled to try to achieve more because they were pulled down by the students who did not want to achieve or did not want to learn. I did not like that. I liked it so much better when I was teaching a college prep class and I just happened to have some students in there, who were struggling a little bit academically, but they rose to the expectations and

have to move at a slower pace. ... They rose to the peer pressure of being in a class with more motivated students and it caused them to achieve more. (Participant 4)

All four of the participants felt students who have been identified as low achievers can achieve as well as any student in college prep classes.

I think that they can achieve just like any other students. Their academic abilities are just like that of a student who may be a "high achiever", but they just might ... I feel that students experience different accomplishments at different stages. A small victory for one can be a huge victory for another student. It is all considered an academic growth. (Participant 3)

I think they are very much mislabeled and people have misinterpreted their abilities, especially in what we want to call those low level classes. There are a lot of males with ADHD who are brilliant, but because of their behavior and because they might not take their medicine, they are tracked into what we would call a low-level class. I have several cases as such in my classroom. (Participant 4)

Teacher Expectations of Low Achievers

Question 8 from the interview protocol was used to capture participant responses about their expectations of their students who are tracked in low-level classes. The question was utilized to determine whether their expectations were the same for those students who they teach in college prep classes as compared to the students they teach in low-level classes. Three of the participants felt their expectations of low-level students were the same as those students who were tracked in low-level classes.

Believe it or not, my expectations are the same. I still expect those kids to pass the EOC. I just know they might not learn at the same rate, but they can still master the same material. (Participant 1)

I feel bad for saying this, but I do not dwell a lot on the numbers of high-level or low-level students. I only glance at them and then I teach my kids. So if my expectation is one thing for this child who is a high-level achiever, I'm expecting the same thing for the child next to him even if they're levels are below that kid. (Participant 3)

I think I've been conditioned from decades of teaching experience that teachers who so-called teach "regular level classes" shouldn't expect much from them. Now I feel differently. I have the same expectations for all of my students regardless of their level. These same students have been victims of low expectations from other teachers. (Participant 4)

One participant explained that her expectations of her low-level students changes according to their environment.

I would say my expectations in the classroom are the same, but my expectations when they go home are completely different. I don't see them doing homework, so I only give homework once a week, and even then I give them time in class to complete it. (Participant 2)

Teacher Perceptions of their Ability to Teach Low Achievers

Question 7 and Questions 9-14 were utilized to get a greater understanding of how teachers perceive their ability to teach students who have been tracked in low-level classes and those who have been identified as low achievers. The participants expressed their feelings on their ability to motivate and meet the needs of students identified as low achievers.

Three of the participants felt that teaching low achievers afforded them the opportunity to reflect on themselves as a teacher to determine whether the students' needs are being met.

When I teach students that are categorized as that, I try to check myself to make sure that I'm meeting their needs. So, they kind of make me always check and make sure that I am doing all I can do to learn and want to learn. (Participant 1)

They make me look at my heart behind what I do and whether or not I truly have to teach. A low-level kid really needs someone who truly knows how to teach. (Participant 3)

I constantly feel like I do not give these students what they need, because they need so much. They need so much and I wish I could work one-on-one with them

all day long. They've been overlooked for one reason or another, but working with what we call low achievers, they make me feel I can't work hard enough to help them. (Participant 4)

One participant enjoys teaching low achievers, but did not express any self-reflection.

"I enjoy it." (Participant 2)

Three of the four participants felt they were a student motivator for low achievers and they felt they had the skills to help students value learning.

I try to continually tell them that they can achieve. I try to make the environment to where it would be inviting and they don't feel threatened in the environment. I tell them that they can do it just like everyone else and the label on them can't be a roadblock. As far as valuing learning, I try to relate the objectives to real life situations and try to tell them what job might rely on math. (Participant 1)

I make sure to spend my time with them individually on days that we work in class on the whiteboards. Doing this at the beginning of the week will help them by Wednesday or Thursday. I also give positive reinforcement. I give them stickers for working hard. I get them to value learning by talking to them about opportunities after school other than college. Some will go to college, but some will not. The ones who don't think they'll make it, I try to talk to them about jobs just to give them some sort of goal to look forward to. (Participant 2)

I further asked Participant 2 what she tells her students if they said they wanted to go to college and asked whether she discouraged that. She responded by saying, "I don't discourage it, but I might hint at a technical school or a two-year degree."

I have to find out what their passion is. If they don't have one, I have to find a way to help them. I take this information and try to bring it in the classroom. I want them to know that what they are doing can help them achieve their goals. If I feel a student is not valuing learning, we must have a conversation. I am led to do what I need to do from that conversation. (Participant 3)

Participant 4 felt that motivating students was difficult for her.

I struggle with trying to motivate students. I try to keep up with current trends, but it's tough to do because I have to stay on top of pop culture and that has been increasingly difficult with my years of teaching. I am always looking for new things for them to read and write about, that could connect me to them to motivate

them. I get students to value learning by allowing them to see a real purpose to the lesson. It needs to be worthwhile. They can't see it as pointless. Some English teachers try to teach novels from the 1800s, but they need to connect it to a current trend from today. (Participant 4)

Two of the four participants felt capable of meeting the needs of students who were tracked in classes as low achievers. Some stated that they would be even more capable if certain conditions were in place to meet their students' needs.

Well I think I still have enough energy to teach students who have that label, because you're going to have to have some energy. And then I think I have enough patience to work with them and I expect them to succeed. So I think as long as I have those things, I think I will be okay. (Participant 1)

Yes, I do. I think this because I want to and the way I try to plan allows for them to have room to mess up and have another chance as long as communication is open. Whenever I get to a point where I'm just teaching and there's no purpose behind it, that's when I need to stop. (Participant 3)

The other two participants felt that they could meet the needs of the students if they had smaller classes. This would allow them to have more one-on-one time with their students.

I don't think I am capable of meeting the needs of these students, because I don't have enough time to give them one-on-one attention. When you have 20-something students, I feel like the lowest of the low, I can't get them everything they need. I feel we need tracking within tracking. (Participant 2)

I think I meet their needs, but not as much as I could if I were to have smaller class sizes. (Participant 4)

The researcher ended the interview by asking each participant whether they felt there were any barriers that would prevent children who are low achievers from being successful in the classroom. All four of the participants expressed their feelings about barriers that may interfere with low achievers being successful.

"Their home life could be a barrier." (Participant 1)

Organization is a huge thing. I think that is a personal barrier with them. If they are not organized, they will not be able to look back at notes to help them. Other barriers would be reading levels in the math classroom. And then home; the lack of support at home could be a barrier. (Participant 2)

I really just think standardized testing is a barrier. I think as long as we have this test that everybody has to take, and the scores of that test are going to have so much to do with what a child can and cannot do, it just deters a kid from believing that it's worth it. I think it's all about classism and wanting to weed people out. (Participant 3)

Going back to the concept of them being trapped; I think their belief in themselves. They're so egocentric and it's all about them at this age. So, whatever they've been told through the years, whatever they've begun to believe about themselves and their ability over the years, that carries with them. So, a barrier for their success would be what they believe they can do or cannot do. (Participant 4)

Observations

Each participant was observed in a class session to further examine their level of expectations and interaction with students who have been identified as low achievers. An observation time was set up with each participant to ensure an assessment would not be given on the day the observation took place. The school is set up on a schedule of four 90-minute blocks. Each block consists of two 45-minute classes. Students can take 90-minute classes or 45-minute classes. The researcher observed each participant for a total of 90 minutes. Observations notes were documented in a journal. The following chart provides the demographic data for the students of each participant.

Table 4.2: Demographic Data for Participants' Students

	Male	Female	Percentage		Black	White	Percentage		504 Plan	IEP
Participant 1	13	12	52 %	48%	15	10	60%	40 %	0	0
Participant 2	19	6	76 %	24%	17	8	68%	32 %	3	3
Participant 3	11	8	58 %	42%	17	2	89%	11 %	0	4
Participant 4	12	12	50 %	50%	13	11	51%	49 %	0	3

Participant 1

The environment of the classroom was a computer lab. Due to the fact that Participant 1 is a basketball coach, he only teaches two classes per semester, one of the classes being a Physical Education class scheduled in the gym. With this schedule, he floated into another teacher's classroom. The classroom was set up with computers on the perimeter of the room and four round tables in the center of the classroom. The lab was decorated for a business classroom.

The participant was seated at his desk upon my arrival. My presence was acknowledged with a "Good morning," and he began to take attendance of his students. The students in the classroom were students who took Algebra I, Part 2 the previous year and were not successful with the course. The class also consisted of students who took Algebra I CP and received a grade of D. The mathematics department policy requires that any student who took Algebra 1 CP and received a grade of D must repeat the second part of Algebra 1. The class is called the Algebra I, Part 2 repeaters' class, which is a semester class.

The participant was still learning some of the names of the students due to the fact that the semester began four weeks prior to the observation. The students were sitting very quietly at either a computer or a center table. There were no computers at the center tables, but students did have access to their Chromebooks issued by the school. Students were seated in alphabetical order so it would be easier for the participant to learn the name of each student and, as he stated earlier, to maintain order. A group of boys were seated closer to the front of the classroom near the participant. When I asked the participant about this arrangement, he stated that this group had a tendency to get off task and therefore he found it necessary to move them closer to the academic activity.

The lecture began with the participant asking students to take out their notes so the homework could be discussed. He asked the class, "How many of you turned in your homework?" About two-thirds of the class raised their hands. The participant addressed the fact that students should attempt their homework assignment to be successful in the course. The participant gave a review from the homework on solving equations with variables on one side. He encouraged participation from students by calling on random students to answer questions. Despite the fact that some students did not have their homework assignment, all the students appeared to be engaged in the review of the homework assignment.

The participant transitioned the lecture by introducing solving equations with variables on both sides. He explained how the problem should be worked and gave students the opportunity to practice independently. All students appeared to be on task and the participant walked around to monitor and answer any misunderstood concepts.

He reminded students to check their answers by substituting the results back into the problem. The researcher walked around the classroom to monitor student engagement with the lesson. All students were working the sample problems from the participant. The researcher stopped to ask two students whether they felt it was important to check their answers upon completion of solving an equation. One student responded by saying, "Yes. I want to make sure I am correct with my work." Another student responded by saying, "I know my work is correct, but Coach Participant 1 said we must check it, so I do." While walking around the room, the participant approached me and said that the students will work consistently as long as he stands before them to monitor their progress. He explained that if he sits at his desk for over 10 minutes, they can become talkative and will get off task. He stated that he did not mind constant monitoring as long as they are working and learning. He was often seen praising the students for making progress. There were some students who got off task. The participant addressed these students verbally and pleasantly to help them remain focused on the lesson. They immediately began to focus and got back on task. After practicing four problems, the students were given the opportunity to work a new problem without verbal discussion. This was done via blogging to other students within the class. The participant was able to access students' understanding of the new concept by viewing what students were blogging to each other. Students followed directions and appeared to enjoy blogging about the new concept with their peers.

Participant 2

The environment of the classroom was inviting to a mathematical eye. The walls were decorated with mathematics and inspirational posters. The students were seated in pairs. The participant stated that she paired her student according to the same ability level. She explained that she grouped lower students with lower students and high-level students with higher level students. She stated, "Even though this is already a low-level class, it makes it easier for me to spend more time with the pair who may not have a clue." She continued by saying that the lower level students sat on the right side and the upper level students sat on the left side. Each chair had a colorful bag that was hanging from the back. The bags consisted of markers, whiteboard, whiteboard erasers, and graph paper. The participant explained that this gave students easy access to supplies needed during class time. The participant's desk was away from the students and very closed in. The students who were placed in this class were students who were successful in Algebra 1, Part 1 with a grade of at least a D.

The participant began the lesson by telling students that they were welcome to use their notes from the previous day. She also explained that if they had received a zero on the take-home quiz, they should not turn it in. All students had their whiteboard, markers, and erasers already placed on the desk before the tardy bell rang. The researcher asked a student why the whiteboards were out on desks. He explained that it was Wednesday and students practice problems on Wednesday.

The participant began the lesson by giving a problem using systems of equation.

Students began to work the problem as the participant walked around to monitor their progress. Upon completion of the problems, the students held their whiteboards up so the

participant could check their work. If the student did not have the correct answer, the participant walked around to assist. Students also collaborated with their partner to check their work.

As the participant walked around, she held her right hand on her forearm. She often knelt down to answer questions from the students. Praise was given for progress. There were two students who sat in the back of the classroom on the right side who were struggling with the concept. They raised their hands, but for some reason they were not acknowledged by the participant. They put their hands down and asked another group about the misunderstood concept. When a question was asked to the participant, she did respond to the students by allowing them to think through the answers. Students appeared engaged in the lesson. The researcher heard two comments from two students who appeared to enjoy the participant's class.

Student 1: "If you are not going to be here next year, I am going to fail math."

Student 2: "Can you stay until I graduated."

The participant smiled at the comments. The comments came from the left side of the classroom where the upper level students reside.

At one point a student yelled out and said, "John snatched something from me." The participant responded by saying, "I am not a babysitter." She continued with the lesson. It appeared that the student withdrew from the lesson in response to that comment. The lesson ended with one problem where students had to recall information from a previously taught concept.

Participant 3

The environment of the classroom was very inviting upon entering. The classroom was decorated with large posters. Some posters were English related while others were inspirational. There was also a bookcase full of books, and a section of the room was dedicated for reading. This section had lounge chairs. The atmosphere was very calm and relaxing. The lights were dimmed and soft music was playing as students entered the room. I later found out that the music was from the Odyssey, which was the focus topic of the lesson. The class was divided into three groups of seven.

The participant instructed students to take out their homework. She gave the students the opportunity to complete their homework in case it was not completed. She continued to update students on the time. After the allotted time was completed, the participant began to walk around to check students' homework. Over half the class did not have their homework. Everyone who was seated at the first table had their homework completed. Three of the seven students seated at the middle table did not have their homework completed or had not attempted it. No students at the last table had their homework completed. The participant addressed the class about their lack of effort concerning their homework. She reminded them that they only had four questions to answer. She also reminded them that they had the entire period the previous day to work on the questions. She said, "Not having it is ridiculous." The class was quieted by this comment. There was no review of the homework assignment.

The participant began the lesson by explaining that they would make connections with informational texts. She called it Give One, Get One. Each group was given an article from *The New York Times* and a chart to complete. Their first task was to read the

article and write down any words they had difficulty in comprehending. They were to take these words and look up the meaning using their Chromebook. The teacher stood at the front of the classroom while the students worked. After about 10 minutes, she walked to me to explain that the students were grouped according to their ability level. The smarter students were in Group 1, the middle-level students were in Group 2, and the low achievers were in Group 3. Group 3 was the same group that did not have their homework. She explained that the reason for grouping them according to their ability level was to allow them to focus on reading that best suited their immediate environment. They would benefit from students who read on their same level.

For the second task, the participant asked students to find an interesting point from the article and record it in the chart. Students were asked to collaborate with their group members and compare what each found to be the most interesting point of the article. Upon completion of each task, the groups rotated to a different table and read a new article. The group members did not change. The closure of the lesson involved an opportunity for students to rotate to a group that had representatives from each article read. In those groups, the students discussed their topics and were able to ask questions and make cross-textual connections with the Odyssey and real world events. The participant discussed the relevance of topics that arose from the Odyssey in conjunction with major historical events referenced in the articles.

Participant 4

The environment of the classroom was very warm and inviting. The walls were decorated with posters with rules of grammar and inspirational sayings. There were five

large whiteboards that hung from the walls. Each board gave information about the upcoming activities for the week as they related to the classroom. There were several bookcases throughout the classroom. There were also books on the window seat. The students were seated in groups of four. There were six groups in the classroom. Students were arranged in groups according to their reading ability level, which integrated low achievers in mixed-ability grouping.

The students entered the room very quietly and were prepared to work. The participant welcomed them to the class and gave them instructions for the lesson. While giving the instruction, the participant walked around the class. It appeared that this movement throughout the class allowed the students to be interested in what the participant was saying. They also appeared eager to begin the lesson.

The participant's initial instructions were for students to put away all cell phones and headphones. The participant explained that they would watch a short movie clip from *Cast Away*. While students were watching the movie, the participant continued to walk around the classroom making sure the students were paying attention. If they had their head down, she gently touch them on their back. The student would sit up from their position.

Upon the completion of the clip, she questioned the students about the clip. She asked, "Was he on the raft with anyone?" "So for him to build the raft, he had to engineer the materials for the raft himself." The students responded to her questions and comments. She continued by saying, "Because he was alone, he had to build the raft by

himself." She explained to the students that when you are on a team, you must solicit support from your team. She related this analogy to the novel they were reading.

The students were instructed to analyze passages from the novel *The Lord of the Flies* in which they had to highlight the leadership qualities of the three main characters. After analyzing numerous passages from the novel, they read though an excerpt from a management book. The management book identified different personality types. Students had to match traits from the characters in the novel to the personality types in the management book. Before the participant could complete her instructions, students appear eager and ready to begin the lesson. They worked together while the participant answered any misunderstood concepts. The lesson ended with the participant allowing students to discuss the traits they noted on their charts for the three main characters from the book.

Lesson Plans

Each participant was asked to present a lesson plan on the topic of the lesson the researcher observed. The following is an outline of the lesson plan.

Participant 1

Participant 1 did not provide a lesson plan for the requested lesson. He felt that after teaching so many years, preparation of lesson plan was not necessary. He stated, "I can teach Algebra 1 with my eyes closed."

Participant 2

Participant 2 submitted a hand-written lesson plan on solving systems of equations.

Essential Question: What does the number of solutions of a system represent?

How can systems be used to represent situations?

Objective: Solving systems of linear equations exactly, approximately graphically, and algebraically.

Common Core State Standard: A1, B3, C5

Instructional Procedure: Students spent a week learning to solve systems graphically. Students took notes yesterday on solving systems algebraically. Students will work with their partner on a whiteboard demonstrating their knowledge on this topic. Real world application.

Evaluation/Assessment: Ongoing throughout the class period.

Activity: Student whiteboards, group work, constructive immediate feedback.

Participant 3

Participant 3 submitted a typed lesson plan.

Bell Ringer: Check homework

Common Core State Standard: Reading Standards for informational Text 4-7; Speaking and listening A-D; 3.

Instructional Procedure: Class will be divided into 3 groups. Each group will have one article printed from *The New York Times*. Once all kids are in groups, instructions will be projected on the smartboard. We will be doing the "Give One Get One" engagement where each group will read and dissect its assigned article. Each group will have 15 minutes to dissect their article. Once that time is up, each group will rotate to a different group to complete their Give One Get One chart. They will be given five minutes. When the groups are finished with both rotations, we will reconvene as a class and each group will share various points from their Give One Get One chart. Upon completing this discussion, we will decide on three main conclusions to draw in connection with the Odyssey. Once we have all conclusions down, we will wrap up the discussion.

Student Product: At this point the students will have a printed copy of one of three articles in front of them. They will use highlighters or pens to dissect the article.

Overall Purpose: As we read the Odyssey by Homer, I want to keep kids engaged and see cross-textual connections that transcend time periods and connect to modern issues in the real world.

Participant 4

Description of the class: 24 students; Four receive support lab services; independent reading levels range from 5th grade – 11th grade. Students are arranged in cooperative groups in class based on ability level and personalities.

Background for lesson: This week students have been using close reading to analyze passages from William Golding's classic novel *The Lord of the Flies* that highlight the leadership qualities of the three main characters. After analyzing numerous passages from the novel, students will read through an excerpt from a management book written from companies that evaluate employees in order to choose the best personalities for leadership position.

Common Core Standards for Informational Texts Grades 9-10: Students will cite evidence from the text to support what the students analyze and the inferences they draw from the text. By the end of 9th grade, students will read and comprehend literary nonfiction in the Grades 9-10 text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Objective: Students will use evidence from a management handbook to assign leadership personality traits to the character of Ralph, Piggy, and Jack based on their knowledge of these characters from the novel.

Assessment: Students will: a) complete a chart to document evidence from the management handbook as well as evidence from the novel to support their analysis of each character, and b) write a character analysis paragraph about each character to include evidence from the novel to support their statements about each character.

Results of Study

Research Questions 1: How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?

Tracking Primary Uncontested (Interview)

Results: Participants 1, 2, and 3 felt that tracking was necessary and beneficial for student, and it aids in closing the achievement gap. The same three participants felt that low achievers can perform at the same ability level as college prep and honors students. Participant 4 felt that tracking traps students in a cycle, and it widens the

academic achievement gap. This same outlying participant felt that heterogeneous grouping allows students to flower from the interactions of mixed ability classroom.

Tracking Primary Uncontested (Observation)

Results: Participants 1 and 4 organized their classrooms heterogeneously and Participants 2 and 3 re-tracked their students within the classroom. Participants 2 and 3 cited their ability to better address individual needs as the justification for tracked classrooms. Participants 1 and 2 (mathematics) are sub-tracked at the department level before classroom assignments are made, causing the students in the class of participant 2 to be tracked three times. Participants 3 and 4 (English) are covertly sub-tracked by section number and not courses name at the department level.

Tracking Primary Uncontested (Lesson Plans)

Results: Participants 1 did not submit a lesson plan and justified his lack of preparation by stating he could teach with his eyes closed. Despite the absence of a written lesson plan, the participant demonstrated a sense of organization and appeared to posses and prioritizes basic goals and objectives for the class.

Participant 2 submitted a hand-written lesson plan consisting of a bulleted list with a basic goal and objective that lacked connection to the CCSS. The goals and objectives were met at an insufficient level based on interview data. Low-level, classroom-tracked students received less attention.

Participant 3 submitted a typed lesson plan that indicated complex goals and objectives and vague connections to CCSS. Observations negated the intentions of goals

as stated on lesson plan and during interview session. Low-level, classroom-tracked student received less attention than the upper level students.

Participant 4 submitted a typed, highly detailed lesson plan with specific connection to the CCSS. The written goals and objectives required higher order critical thinking skills, and the participant demonstrated a well-organized classroom environment and attentiveness to the entire class.

Research Question 2: What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?

Self-Fulfilling Prophecy (Interview)

Results: All participants suggested that their expectations were the same for low-level, college prep, and honors student respectively. Participants 1, 3, and 4 indicated they did not focus intentionally on student ability as an indicator of expectation and noted that they unilaterally expect all students to perform well on all assignments. Participant 2 described a dual set of expectations that she employs. Her expectations of what students will do in class are high, but she has learned based on performance not to expect homework and therefore, she does not assign it. Participants 1, 3, and 4 experience similar homework dilemmas, but they badger students to do it or make adjustment in class for the work to be done.

Self-Fulfilling Prophecy (Observation)

Results: Participants showed varying levels of expectations during instruction that in some cases contradicted their stated intentions. Participant 1 was highly engaged,

69

offered praise, and admonished homework failures. Participants 2 demonstrated preference for her high-level, classroom-tracked students. Participant 3 demonstrated an unintentional preference for her high-level, classroom-tracked students as they demanded her attention and she was unable to fulfill her expectations of individualized attention. Participant 4 demonstrated extremely high expectations and demanded the students meet them. She adjusted the lesson plan to accommodate individual needs and fully engaged students during instruction.

Self-Fulfilling Prophecy (Lesson Plans)

Results: Participants 1 did not submit a lesson plan and Participants 2, 3, and 4 demonstrated varying degrees of expectations based on their submitted plans. Participant 2's written plan indicated low expectations, and her instructional performance demonstrated the same. These data contradict the participant's interview suggesting high expectations for all students. Participant 3's written plan indicated high expectations, but failed to deliver in practice. Observations negated the intentions of goals as stated on the lesson plan. The participant did indicate having relinquished expectations of homework during the interview session. Participant 4's written goals and objectives were met with extremely high expectations of the class. The participant fielded multiple questions from students simultaneously, circulated the room, and knelt beside students who needed assistance to ensure her expectations could be attained by the students.

Research Question 3: How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

Reflective Practice (Interview)

Results: All participants indicated positive self-efficacy in their ability to teach lower level achievers; however they described varying degrees of effectiveness and self-reflection. Participant 1 indicated that he feel the need to reflect more on his ability to meet this group of students' extended set of needs. Participant 2 expressed simple enjoyment regarding her work with low-level students and no sense of reflection. Participant 3 noted an inclination to consider the moral ethic involved with teaching students who come to school disenfranchised. Participant 4 focused on the challenge of meeting the needs of low-level students and expressed concerns as to whether or not she was effective enough to have the necessary impact.

Reflective Practice (Observation):

Results: Participant 1 demonstrated confidence with his class and was able to connect with his students and convey the importance of their school work. Students responded and indicated that they worked for him because he instituted an expectation of responsibility. Participant 2 had an uncritical perception of her efficacy and it was reflected in her ability to capture her entire classes attention and address their needs. Students (low-level classroom tracked) indicated frustration when she did not answer questions. Participant 3 possessed an ethic of care toward her students, but was overwhelmed with the task of addressing the multiple sets of needs even among her classroom-tracked group. She mentioned smaller class sizes as a way to address this problem. She recognizes her shortcomings. Participant 4 is an accomplished teacher of low-level tracked students and continued to critique her practice in order to improve her

effectiveness. Her energy level and respect for her students are high, and this was demonstrated in her lesson.

Reflective Practice (Lesson Plan)

Results: Participant 1 did not use a lesson plan and indicated his confidence in his ability. The interview and observation support his ability to teach low-level students, but do not suggest students are receiving the most challenge curriculum available. The absence of a lesson plan for this particular class might indicates his inability to articulate a connection between CCSS and the delivered curriculum. Participant 2 used a loose lesson plan that matched her apparent teaching ability. She perceived herself to enjoy working with low-level students, but was missing opportunities to maximize learning opportunities. She cited CCSS in the plan, but did not connect them to the learning objectives.

Participant 3 offered a plan that was structured to engage low-level students in critical thinking skills, but the participant was unable to fully execute the plan. While she made surface connection to CCSS through the goals and objectives, her inability to manage the large class hampered her effectiveness. Participant 4's self-efficacy was high although she still criticized her ability to fulfill the goals and objectives of her class. The lesson plan was well developed and executed. The relationships between CCSS and the delivered curriculum were evident and strong.

Trustworthy and Credibility

Two constructs of great importance in qualitative study are trustworthiness and credibility. The first construct, trustworthiness, is the extent to which the researcher's

out that time is an essential factor in developing trustworthy research results. The more time a researcher spends in the environment being studied, the more opportunities there are to observe a wide range of interactions and events. Time allows a broader view of the participant's world and the events that shape his or her perceptions and feelings. Time spent with interview participants building relationships leads to more honest and comprehensive dialogue once the interview process has begun. Creating an interview atmosphere that is unrushed and relaxed allows participants to feel comfortable expanding on thoughts or ideas and fosters confidence that the interviewer is interested in what they have to share.

Likewise, investment of time in the interview process helps to ensure that the interviewer is not ignoring possible topics for exploration or clarification for the sake of time constraints. In this study, participants were given copies of the interview format at least one week prior to their scheduled interview. This allowed them to think about the topics and formulate some of their thoughts prior to the interview. As one participant expressed, "Teachers don't like to take pop quizzes!" Many of the teachers thanked the researcher for sharing the topics ahead of time and expressed that it helped them feel better prepared and therefore more comfortable about being recorded. Some teachers also expressed that having the questions ahead of time gave them the opportunity to, "think about things they have never really had to put into words before" (Participant 4).

The fact that I had worked with all of the participants in my role as a coordinator seemed to make the interview process more informal and comfortable. I was someone

with whom they were familiar, who had some idea of the day-to-day experiences they go through. To ensure enough time was spent with each participant, teachers were asked to set the time and place of the interview themselves. All of the participants kept their scheduled time for the interview and observations. Several interviews took place in two sessions because of time pressures. If a participant had a great deal of insight to share or if the interview took a new path or direction, a second session was scheduled so that participants would not feel rushed to share their thoughts or reluctant to expound on topics that could provide valuable data.

The use of multiple data sources is another method of increasing the trustworthiness of research results. Using multiple investigators, multiple sources of data, or multiple methods to confirm the emerging findings is called "triangulation" (Merriam, 1998, p. 204). Triangulation methods were implemented in this research project by the collection of data through teacher interviews as well as observations of the participants in their classroom settings as they worked with students who have been identified as low achievers. As explained by Glesne and Peshkin (1992), the use of multiple data sources, "[I]s not to negate the utility of, say, a study based solely on interviews, but rather to indicate that the more sources tapped for understanding, the more believable the findings" (p. 24).

The second construct of importance, credibility, is essentially the degree to which the research findings can be verified by some other means. Interview participants shared in the interpretive process on two levels. First, they reviewed their own interview transcripts for accuracy of content. Second, they were asked to review a final working draft of the research.

Chapter 5: Results, Conclusion, Implications, Recommendations Introduction

With the advent of the new CCSS, school systems across the country now have a dire need for attaining a greater understanding of educational practices and their impact on student achievement. One educational practice that remains constant in many educational institutions today is that of tracking or grouping students into specific curriculum courses sequences dependent upon student abilities (Burris, 2003). In addition to the impact of tracking, the need to understand the effectiveness of what motivates students to learn and teachers to attain learning goals is also an essential part of understanding current teaching and education organizational practice (Pajares & Schunk, 2001).

Research conducted by Tschannen-Moren and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) and Pajares and Schunk (2001) explained the importance of the relationship between self-efficacy and educational practices and outcomes. The purpose of this research study was to gain a better understanding of the traditional practice of tracking students according to their presumed ability level and its influence on educational factors such as teacher perception of students, teacher expectations of students, teacher perception of self-efficacy, teacher instructional practice, and student academic achievement and learning. In this particular study, the issues of tracking and teacher perception of students who are tracked was only seen within the context of one high school and a group of teachers with three sources of evidence being used. Three research questions were used to guide the design and application of this single case research study. These research questions were as follows:

- 1. How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?
- 2. What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?
- 3. How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

For this research study, a 14-question semi-structured interview was designed to capture each individual's perspective on the topics. Direct classroom observations and teacher lesson plans were used to triangulate the data for this single case study. This chapter includes an analysis of the three sources of evidence utilized.

Summary of the Study

This study adds to the understanding of ways in which schools can better support increased student achievement efforts by taking a closer look at the influence of tracking on the achievement gap, teacher expectations of students who enrolled in low-level courses, teachers perceptions of self-efficacy, and teacher instructional practice in low-level tracked classes. The information presented in this study provides educators and educational leaders with a better understanding of how tracking students impacts teacher perception of these students and their educational practices. A key component of this study is teacher self-efficacy. Prior studies on self-efficacy have been shown to have an influence on student achievement (Bandura, 1994; Hoy & Davis, 2006). In addition, this study provided more information and research on teacher practices in addressing the

educational issue of closing the achievement gap, which remains an issue in the education arena. (Burris & Welner, 2005).

By exploring the influence of tracking, teacher practices were addressed through an exploration of how teachers perceive students who are tracked in low-level courses and how their perception influences delivery of their lessons. In addition, this research can help teachers and leaders gain a more thorough understanding of instructional practices associated with the different groupings and tracks by investigating the perceptions of self-efficacy with teachers and teacher instructional practices. This, in turn, can assist in providing a greater understanding of the influences of tracking on student achievement through administrative practices such as student scheduling and curriculum and teacher practices associated with instruction.

Summary of Findings

Research Question 1: How do high school core-subject instructors of general education (low-level) track courses perceive academic tracking and the associated achievement gap?

The dominant perception of high school core-subject instructors is that tracking is effective and scrutiny of the system is unwarranted. Teachers with less experience relied more heavily on tracking as a perceived means of efficiently addressing individualized instruction. A minority of teachers perceived tracking negatively and critiqued the successfulness of the system.

Research Question 2: What types of expectations do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses have regarding general education students?

High school core-subject instructors who teach low-level track courses contended that their expectations for low-level tracked students are as high as their expectations for students in CP or honors classes. Associated race/ethnicity and/or gender did not positively impact teachers' expectations of students in practice. While all indicated a high level of expectations in theory, only the White female teacher demonstrated the high expectations she espoused in her narrative and exhibited in her lesson plan. Years of experience did positively impact teachers' expectations as shown through the two instructors with 21 and 30 years respectively demonstrating high expectations in practice.

Protheroe (2008) described teachers who have a strong sense of self-efficacy as having greater abilities and efforts related to lesson planning and preparation and execution of instructional strategies. The classroom observations were evidence of what was planned and implemented and the results garnered depended upon the effort devoted to quality instruction.

Research Question 3: How do high school core-subject instructors who teach general education (low-level) track courses perceive their ability to teach general education students?

High school core-subject instructors who teach low-level track courses perceive themselves as effective primarily based on their desire to work with the population of students they teach.

The majority of these teachers are not as effective as they believe based on the basic level, non-critical curricula, and the sub-tracking within classrooms used to attempt individualized instruction.

Based on racial/ethnic affiliation of the participants, Black teachers are no more effective with implementation of a challenging curriculum than their White counterparts and do not challenge the status quo of their students' designation or the system that disproportionately places Black students in low-level courses. Based on socioeconomic status affiliation of the participants, teachers with middle-class backgrounds are less effective at gauging their ability to teach low-level students and connect less effectively with the high ratio of low socioeconomic status students in low-track courses.

Recommendations

The intent of this case study research was to gain a greater depth of understanding of how general education teachers perceive academic tracking and the achievement gap, their expectations of students who are tracked in low-level classes, and their self-efficacy to teach these students. The strength of the study included the investigation of three data sources, interviews, observations, and lesson planning in one context to gain that greater understanding. The narrow focus and the use of a group of four teachers from one school building with this case study precludes the results from being generalized to a larger population but does render the results applicable to similar populations.

While this study focused on mathematics and English teachers exclusively as participants in this study; the view of other subject area teachers may be vastly different than the teachers who participated in this study. The perceptions can change from

content area to content area. A case study including participants from more subject areas in secondary education could broaden the applicability of research in this vein.

Recommendation for Future Research

Given the limitations of this single case study research and the new implementation of CCSS, there are some recommendations that could be pursued in later research.

- Expanding this study to include more core-subject areas would expand the understanding of how tracking impacts student performance in the standardized testing areas.
- Including student outcomes as a measure of efficacy would expand the
 understanding of this study's results beyond the participant's self-perceptions of
 their ability to teach low-level tracked students.
- 3. Increasing the time frame and conducting a longitudinal study might further illuminate the impact of teacher experience, race/ethnicity, socio-economic status and gender on the efficacy of instruction for low-level tracked student
- Including administrator data might offer explanations for teacher perceptions toward tracking and their ability and/or willingness to challenge this traditional system.

Recommendations for Practice

The information collected for this study research has implications for the practitioner.

- 1. The traditional practice of tracking needs to be reviewed by school leaders and school districts to determine whether this particular form of course differentiation and student grouping practice is the best means of educating all students. There are several school districts and school systems that have detracked schools with great success. These models of de-tracked systems should be examined to see whether these models should be followed.
- 2. Teacher training courses should be fine-tuned to include opportunities for exposure of preservice teachers to an educational ecosystem that is diverse in regards to student grouping. The exposure would allow the teachers the opportunity to make the best and most informed decision for their classes.
- 3. The disproportionate numbers of Black students in lower level courses needs to be further investigated. Black students need to be encouraged to participate in higher numbers of higher-level courses for college readiness.

Implications

Give the results of this study, school leadership needs to analyze the impact of current tracking systems. Teacher training program might explore alternative means for identifying preservice teachers with optimal dispositions to effectively educate diverse populations.

Professional development opportunities might provide expanded latitude for in-service teachers to experiment with adjusted grouping strategies and curriculum options.

Administrators at the building and district levels might consider unifying and raising expectations for a wider range of student learners and reducing the number of students identified and scheduled for low-level classes.

Educators at all levels might consider the social justice implications for acknowledging the conflicting evidence that tracking presents. The hegemonic practices evidenced in this study that reify social stratification in society must be challenged at every level. School leadership needs to analyze whether or not all students, regardless of race, who are in lower level courses are best served in these courses, especially if there is a greater chance that by simply being placed in these lower level courses there is a greater possibility for students not to achieve on standardized tests. With all the demands of accountability in the wake of CCSS, schools must attempt to investigate ways to bring all students to higher levels of academic performance.

This study also impacts the understanding of teacher performance and teacher self-efficacy. The relationship of self-efficacy to motivating students helps school leadership understand ways of improving school climate, culture, and student performance through teacher motivation and their ability to engage students in the learning process. Examples of teacher motivation in lower performing school districts with high socioeconomic student populations show the effectiveness of teacher belief systems on the ability to impact student learning. By learning more about how to promote efficacious teachers who have better skills in student engagement and instructional practices, students may have more opportunities for academic success.

Conclusion

Although tracking is presumed to be the most common course of action to eliminate or at least minimize the achievement gap, it has likely done more to maintain the gap and perhaps widen it. CCSS hold little promise to address this problem if teachers do not effectively utilize them to create and deliver engaging curricula with high expectations. Moreover, the lower level classes are still saturated with more Blacks and socioeconomically disadvantaged students. Less attention has been given to helping these students and their academics and consequently more attention needs to be placed on the fact that these students are remaining separated from a population that, in the larger sphere, is desegregated. While teacher expectations—what is quoted in narratives and written in lesson plans— are important, teacher actions as conscious intervention—what is done in practice—more powerfully determine student outcomes (Goldberg, 1992)

The elimination of tracking could enable the halo effect to impact student achievement. As noted by Tauber regarding the self-fulfilling prophecy theory (1997), "[I]f you see good in someone that isn't actually there, and you are persistent in seeing this good, the person on whom you have placed the halo may just live up to the goodness that you see."

Is it possible to meet the needs of children who have been identified as low achievers and disband the traditional grade level division of students and reorganize classrooms to accommodate students' actual academic abilities rather than where they are perceived to be?

By de-tracking the classroom, this could lessen the negative impact continual failure in traditional classrooms may have on self-esteem and motivation of children who are low-achievers by rewarding students for making learning gains at their own pace, rather than punishing them for failing to keep up with a pace imposed upon them.

In summary, students are no more prepared to take on the higher level of working in the lower tracked classes that were designed to remediate and catch up those students falling behind than they were before. Tracking has become more perfunctory policy rather than a theoretically sound and practically effective process designed to make sure students perform at the highest level of achievement. As the classes have been watered down and expectations lowered, so too have the passions of teachers in the belief that all students can perform at the expected levels of achievement. The educational system has taken on a one-track mind while encouraging a multi-track level of instruction that places students in positions to fall further behind rather than realizing and achieving their full potentials. The question still remains unanswered: If we remain separate, does this in any form hold the potential to make us equal?

REFERENCES

- Ansalone, G. (2001). Schooling, tracking, and inequality. *Journal of Children and Poverty*, 7(1), 33-47. doi: 10.1080/10796120120038028
- Archbald, D., & Keleher, J. (2008). Measuring conditions and consequences of tracking in the high school curriculum. *American Secondary Education*, *36*(2), 26-42. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=32143825&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Atkins, J. & Ellsesser, J. (2003). Tracking: The good, the bad, and the questions. *Educational Leadership*, 61(2), 44-47. http://search.ebscohost.com: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=11868864&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Au, W. (2009). Rethinking multicultural education: Teaching for racial and cultural justice. Milwaukee, WI: Rethinking Schools.
- Balanced View Training. (n.d.). *Balanced View Teaching*. Retrieved from http://www.greatfreedom.org/overview.html
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V. S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human behavior* (Vol. 4). New York: Academic Press. (Reprinted in H. Friedman [Ed.], Encyclopedia of mental health. San Diego: Academic Press, 1998). Retrieved from http://www.des.emory.edu/mfp/BanEncy.html.
- Bellanca, J. A., & Swartz, E. (1993). *The challenge of detracking: A collection*. Palatine, IL: IRI/Skylight Pub.
- Boaler, J. (2006). How a Detracked Mathematics Approach Promoted Respect, Responsibility, and High Achievement. *Theory into Practice*, *45*(1), 40-46. doi: 10.1207/s15430421tip4501_6
- Burris, C. C., & Garrity, D. T. (2008). *Detracking for excellence and equity*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Burris, C., & Welner, K. (2005, April 1). A special section on the achievement gap: Closing the achievement gap by detracking. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 86(8), 594. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. EJ711915) Retrieved from ERIC database: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direc

- <u>t=true&db=eric&AN=EJ711915&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>
- Davenport, P., & Anderson, G. (2002). *Closing the achievement gap: No excuses*. Houston, TX: American Productivity Quality Center.
- Fiedler, E., & Lange, R. (1993). The concept of grouping in gifted education. *Roeper Review*, *16*(1), 4. http://search.ebscohost.com: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=9511241512&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Finley, M. (1984). Teachers and tracking in a comprehensive high school. *Sociology of Education*, *57*(4), 233-243. http://search.ebscohost.com:http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=12578507&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Glesne, C., & Peshkin, A. (1992). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction*. White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Goodlad, J. I., & Keating, P. (1990). Access to knowledge: An agenda for our nation's schools. New York: College Entrance Examination Board.
- Hallinan, M. T. (1991). School Differences in Tracking Structures and Track Assignments. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 1(3), 251-275. doi: 10.1207/s15327795jra0103_4
- Hardre, P., & Sullivan, D. (2009). Motivating adolescents: High school teachers' perceptions and classroom practices. *Teacher Development*, *13*(1), 1-16. doi: 10.1080/13664530902858469
- High Stakes. (n.d.). : *Testing for Tracking, Promotion, and Graduation*. Retrieved from http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record_id=6336
- Hoy, A., & Davis, H. (2006). Teacher self-efficacy and its influenced on the achievement of adolescents. In F. Parajes & T. Urdan (Eds.), *Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents* (pp. 117-137). Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing.
- Kaplan, S. (2007, Summer). Differentiation: Asset or Liability for Gifted Education? *Gifted Child Today*, p. 23. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=25690974&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live

- Keeping Track: How Schools Structure Inequality. (n.d.). *Alibris Marketplace*. Retrieved from http://www.alibris.com/booksearch?qwork=3524406
- Kunjufu, J. (2002). *Black students-Middle class teachers*. Chicago, IL: African American Images.
- Loveless, T. (1999). Will tracking reform promote social equity? *Educational Leadership*, 56(7), 28. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=1792605&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Merriam, S. (1998). *Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- The Nation's Report Card National Assessment of Educational Progress NAEP. (n.d.).

 The Nation's Report Card National Assessment of Educational Progress NAEP. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/
- No Child Left Behind Act. (2013, February 25). *Wikipedia*. Retrieved from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/No_Child_Left_Behind_Act
- No Child Left Behind (NCLB). (n.d.). *No Child Left Behind (NCLB)*. Retrieved from http://www.resa.net/curriculum/assessment/nclb/
- No Child Left Behind. (n.d.). *ED.gov*. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/landing.jhtml
- Oakes, J. (1985). *Keeping track: How schools structure inequality*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Oakes, J. (2005). *Keeping track: How schools structure inequality*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Pajares, F., & Schunk, D. H. (2001). Self-beliefs and school success: Self-efficacy, self-concept, and school achievement. In R. Riding & S. Rayner (Eds.), *Self-perception* (pp. 239-266). London: Ablex Publishing.
- Pajares, F., & Urdan, T. C. (2006). Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents. Greenwich, CT: IAP Information A
- Portes, P. (2008, March 1). A cultural approach to establishing equity and closing the educational achievement gap. *Penn GSE Perspectives on Urban Education*, 5(2). (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. EJ835625) Retrieved from ERIC database:

- Protheroe, N. (2008, May). Teacher efficacy: What is it and why does it matter? National Association of Elementary School Principals, 42-45. Retrieved from http://www.naesp.org/resources/1/Principal/2008/M-Jp42.pdf ge Pub.
- Proxy Login University Libraries USC. (n.d.). *Proxy Login University Libraries USC*. Retrieved from https://pallas2.tcl.sc.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true
- Rubie-Davies, C. M. (2006). Teacher expectations and student self-perceptions: Exploring relationships. *Psychology in the Schools*, *43*(5), 537-552. doi: 10.1002/pits.20169
- Schunk, D. H., & Meece, J. L. (1992). *Student perceptions in the classroom*. Hillsdale, NJ: L. Erlbaum.

Slavin

- Tieso, C. (2003). Ability grouping is not just tracking anymore. *Roeper Review*, 26(1), 29-36. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com: http://library.gcu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=11246827&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live
- Tracking and Detracking: Debates, Evidence, and Best Practices for a Heterogeneous World | Beth Rubin Academia.edu. (n.d.). Tracking and Detracking: Debates, Evidence, and Best Practices for a Heterogeneous World | Beth Rubin Academia.edu. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu/373827/Tracking_and_Detracking_Debates_Evidence_and_Best_Practices_for_a_Heterogeneous_World
- Tracking: The good, the bad, and the questions. (2003). Educational Leadership, 44-47.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A. W., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher Efficacy: Its Meaning and Measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 202. doi: 10.2307/1170754
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 783-805.evelopment and use (2nd ed.).. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Van Houtte, M. (2004). Tracking Effects on School Achievement: A Quantitative Explanation in Terms of the Academic Culture of School Staff. *American Journal of Education*, 110(4), 354-388. doi: 10.1086/422790

- What Is Self-Efficacy? (n.d.). *About.com Psychology*. Retrieved from http://psychology.about.com/od/theoriesofpersonality/a/self_efficacy.htm
- Welner, K. G. & Burris, C. C. (2006). Alternative Approaches to the Politics of Detracking. *Theory into Practice*, 45(1), 90-99.
- Wigfield, A., & Eccles, J. S. (2001). *Development of achievement motivation*. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Wikipedia. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://www.wikipedia.org/
- Yin, R. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods, Fourth Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, Inc.
- (n.d.). Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/search/detailmini.jsp?ERICExtSearch_Se archValue 0=EJ806309

Appendix A: Letter to Participants

Study Title: The Relationship between Student Achievement and Teacher Perception of Low Achievers

Dear Subject Participates,

My name is Hope Reed. I am a doctoral candidate in the Education Department at the University of South Carolina. I am conducting a research study as part of the requirement of my degree in Curriculum Studies, and I would like to invite you to participate.

I am studying teachers' perceptions of their students in a high school setting. The general topic I want to explore will be how teachers perceive their students who are traditionally identified as low achievers. If you decided to participate, you will be asked to meet with me for one hour and 30 minutes for an interview session. In addition, I would like to observe your class for 40 minutes after the interview is completed. In particular, you will be asked questions about your perceptions and expectations of students who are in your lower level classes. The meeting will take place at Blythewood High School. The interview will be audio taped so that I can accurately reflect on what is discussed. The tapes will be transcribed by a professional transcriber. The tapes will be analyzed and reviewed by the members of the research team. They will then be destroyed.

91

Participation is confidential. Study information will be kept in a source location at the

University of South Carolina. The results of the study may be published or presented at

professional meeting, but your identity will not be revealed.

You will receive \$50.00 upon the completion of the interview and observations for your

time. If you withdraw from the study prior to the conclusion, you will receive \$25.00.

Taking part in the study is your decision. You do not have to be in this study if you do

not want to. You may quit being in the study at any time or decide not to answer any

question you are not comfortable answering.

We will be happy to answer any questions you have about the study. You may contact

me at (803)-665-0246 or hreed@richland2.org or my faculty advisor, Rhonda Jeffries,

(803) 777-7000, rjeffrie@mailbox.sc.edu if you have related questions or problems. If

you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the

Office of Research Compliance at the University of South Carolina at (803) 777-7095.

Thank you for your consideration. If you would like to participate, please sign below and

return to me in room 522.

With kind regards,

Hope Reed

401 Beaumont Park Circle

Blythewood, SC

92

(803) 691-4090	
hreed@richland2.org	
I understand the procedures and conditions of my participation described above. My	
questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I agree to participate in this stud	dy
I have been given a copy of this form.	
Name of Subject	
Signature of Subject Date	